

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Potential Adverse Impacts of the Lack of Diversity of African American Women on Business Operations: Diversity and the **Competitive Advantage**

Leilani Jasmine Evans Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons, and the Feminist, Gender, and Sexuality Studies Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Leilani J. Evans

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Jaime Klein, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Sylnovie Merchant, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Jamiel Vadell, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Potential Adverse Impacts of the Lack of Diversity of African American Women on Business Operations:

Diversity and the Competitive Advantage

Leilani J. Evans

MBA, University of Phoenix, 2018
BS, University of Phoenix, 2016

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration
Gender Equity: Diversity and Inclusion

Walden University

March 2022

Abstract

Senior organizational leadership lacks diversity, with African American women elevating to senior executive positions to contribute to the competitive advantage. A lack of diversity in leadership could impact profitability and an organization's competitive advantage. Grounded in cognitive diversity theory, the purpose of this single qualitative case was to explore strategies African American women executives used to increase diversity with other African American Women in their ranks to ensure profitability and maintain a competitive advantage. The participants were five African American women senior executives in the District of Columbia who implemented strategies to increase diversity with other African American women and maintain a competitive advantage. Data were collected using semistructured phone interviews and reviewing organization employee handbooks and public policies. Data were analyzed using a thematic analysis process with three emerging themes: (a) mentoring, (b) barriers, and (c) strategic planning, diversity, and the competitive advantage for African American women in corporate America. A key recommendation is for senior business leaders to lend a critical lens to their promotion and hiring practices that marginalize African American women within an organization. The implication for positive social change is the potential ability for corporations to attract culturally diverse applicants to include African American women, expanding the workforce to a diversified market competitively, and elevating a company's perception as fair.

Potential Adverse Impacts of the Lack of Diversity of African American Women on Business Operations:

Diversity and the Competitive Advantage

by

Leilani J. Evans

MBA, University of Phoenix, 2018

BS, University of Phoenix, 2016

BS, University of Maryland, 1981

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration
Gender Equity: Diversity and Inclusion

Walden University

March 2022

Dedication

"It's not about supplication, it's about power. It's not about asking, it's about demanding. It's not about convincing those who are currently in power, it's about changing the very face of power itself. "

- Kimberle Williams Crenshaw

I dedicate this study to all African American women who aspire to become leaders to diversify the face of corporate America, expanding equity and inclusion. To my mother Laura T. Evans, I dedicate this work to the strength and resilience you have shown in support of who you are, a mother, a wife, a friend, and a phenomenal WOMAN. You are my foundation for continuous growth. I love you! To my heart beats: My daughter Kalani, rise and keep rising. This world is for you to lead the change! It is your time! My sons, Steven, and Kyle, walk in the light of your truths and be an example for your sons and nephews. To my granddaughters, Kaleia, and Carter, you are the future, the brightest stars in the universe. This poem is what I want for you.

I AM the Ocean

"... I am your future

When the waters embrace me ...when the moon glows down...you clearly, See me shining...

I...Am...A Jewel...I shine

I am Priceless ...Incomparable...Undeniable...Wonderful Me"

-Nikki Giovanni

Acknowledgments

"It is not our differences that divide us. It is our inability to recognize, accept, and celebrate those differences." -Audre Lorde

This academic journey took an insurmountable amount of sacrifice, passion, and perseverance. First and foremost, I could not have completed this journey without the grace of God and the blessings for sustainability to finish. I am extremely humbled by the willingness of the African American women participants of the Delta Sigma Theta who unequivocally dedicated their time and support as participants for this journey. Your support has forged a bond of sisterhood with synergistic alignment and purpose. Your strength, determination, and fortitude are beacons that light the way to a brighter future for women in all walks of life. To the Briley Boys for giving me a peaceful haven to complete the final stages of this study and unrequited support. To my sister friend Tracy Hudson, who listened to my diatribe of angst and tears during this process.

Additionally. I am thankful for my committee members, Dr. Jaime Klein, Dr. Sylnovie Merchant, and Dr. Jamiel Vadell, who were instrumental in my completing the doctoral journey. Thank you to Dr. Kim Critchlow, who was my role model in pursuit of bringing light to this study from my first residency. And to my classmates Doctor Charles Johnson, III and Pamela Manuel, thank you for bringing levity, comradery, and positive energy during times of despair. You have kept me grounded and consistently said we would finish. And lastly, to my Muse thank you! Now it is your turn!

Table of Contents

Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem and Purpose	1
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	4
	Conceptual Framework	5
	Operational Definitions	6
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
	Assumptions	7
	Limitations	8
	Delimitations	9
	Significance of the Study	10
	Contribution to Business Practice	. 10
	Implications for Social Change	. 11
	Literature Review	12
	Methods of Searching	. 13
	Historical Background	. 14
	CDT	. 14
	Historical Barriers for African Americans16	
	C-Suite Disparity	. 17

Barriers: Opportunities and Strategies	18
Leadership	21
AAW and Mentoring	22
Diversity in Corporate America's Workforce	26
Diversity and Business	28
Diversity: Boardroom	30
Evolution of Diversity	32
Gender and Racial Bias	33
AAW	35
AAW in Government	37
AAW in Corporate America	38
Cultural Diversity and Firm Performance	39
Gender Diversity and Financial Performance	40
Gender Inequality in Leadership Perceptions in Corporate America	42
Diversity and Competitive Advantage	43
Glass Ceiling: Federal Government	45
The Glass Ceiling: Culture and Diversity	46
The Inclusion of Race and Gender in the Leadership Literature	47
Transition	48
ection 2: The Project	50
Purpose Statement	50
Role of the Researcher	51
	Barriers: Opportunities and Strategies Leadership

Participants	53
Research Method and Design	54
Research Method	54
Research Design	55
Population and Sampling	59
Ethical Research	60
Data Collection Instruments	62
Data Collection Technique	66
Data Organization Technique	68
Data Analysis	69
Reliability and Validity	71
Reliability	71
Validity	72
Transition and Summary	74
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	76
Introduction	76
Presentation of the Findings.	77
Emergent Theme 1: Mentoring	78
Emergent Theme 2: Strategic Planning, Diversity, and Competitive	
Advantage	85
Emergent Theme 3 Barriers	91
Applications to Professional Practice	97

Implications for Social Change	98
Recommendations for Action	101
Recommendations for Further Research	101
Reflections	102
Conclusion	103
References	104
Appendix A Interview Protocol and Questions	146
Interview Questions	150
Appendix B: Ethics Certificate	151

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Background of the Problem

Senior organizational leadership contributing to the competitive advantage has a lack of diversity with African American women elevating to senior executive positions to contribute to the competitive advantage of African American women to executive positions. While women have collectively broken the glass ceiling, African Americans continue to struggle with achieving senior executive elevation. According to Roberts et al. (2018) there are only 32 women leaders in Fortune 500 companies and only three African American men. In 2015, 8.2% of management positions (e.g., vice presidents and higher) in the business sectors of the workforce were African Americans (Bureau of Labor Statistics 2015). According to Beal (2008), African Americans remain underrepresented in corporate America. Based on the statistics the question remains about what strategies African American women (AAW) use to elevate to senior leadership.

In corporate America, the element of diversity is absent at the senior level, specifically with the presence of AAW. This topic has a significant impact on workplace diversity and leadership prevalent with impacting the competitive advantage. With the political climate changing towards a gender and racial inclusion dichotomy from what was, it is critical to understand leadership through the experiences of AAW leaders.

Problem and Purpose

In 2018, 43% of the workforce was made up of women, 12% as senior executives, and 4% of the top corporations having women as chief executive officers (CEOs);

(Moreno-Gómez et al., 2018). The face of corporate America, however, is synonymous with White men. While women make up 40% of managerial positions, they remain as midlevel managers or in less influential positions (Sánchez & Lehnert, 2019). The general business problem is that a lack of diversity in leadership could impact profitability and diminish an organization's competitive advantage. The specific business problem is that some corporate leaders lack strategies to increase diversity in their ranks to ensure profitability and maintain a competitive advantage.

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies that AAW executives use to increase diversity with other AAW in their ranks to ensure profitability and maintain competitive advantage. The participants consisted of five executive-level managers with 10 years of experience who have successfully implemented strategies to increase diversity in their company within the District of Columbia. The implication for social change is the ability for corporations to attract culturally diverse applicants expanding the workforce to a diversified market competitively. Diversity could be a tool by which corporations ensure they are meeting the needs of society. Progressive organizations must show sensitivity to upholding social, cultural, and ethical values of the employed and serve diverse communities, which will result in more opportunities and promote social impact by allowing diversified workforce's ascension to leadership positions (Saxena, 2014).

Nature of the Study

I selected qualitative methodology for this study. A qualitative researcher collects data from individuals actively engaged in the context studied and can discover unexpected insights (Hill & Kemp, 2018; Lyons et al., 2015). The researcher gains a deeper understanding of the phenomenon of interest by obtaining and conveying the participants' experiences from a participatory position. Qualitative researchers collect data and pursue objectivity with minimal influence (Saunders et al., 2019). By contrast, the quantitative research methodology uses standardized measures and statistical analysis to identify the relationship between variables (Hammarberg et al., 2016). Thus, quantitative research did not apply to this study. The focus of the research was not to examine the connection between variables. Mixed-method researchers collect quantitative and qualitative data into a single study for data integration to tightly assimilate a response to the research question (Taguchi, 2018). This method was not applicable, as the research question was answerable using a standalone qualitative method.

I used a single case study design to explore strategies that African Americana women executives used to increase diversity with other AAW in their ranks to ensure profitability and maintain a competitive advantage. Conventional alternatives for qualitative designs are phenomenological, grounded theory, and ethnographic. A phenomenological approach is appropriate if addressing individuals with similar experiences (Stainton, 2016). However, the phenomenological design was not a practical

option given that the intent was to obtain an in-depth understanding of strategies leaders used to diversify ranks. A grounded theory approach is applicable for developing theories (Tavakol & Sandars, 2014), not the objective for examining strategies used by leaders to increase diversity and ensure profitability. An ethnographic approach is suitable when a researcher pursues a description and interpretation of shared patterns of the entire group's culture over a significant period (Wood & Mattson, 2019). An ethnographic approach was not appropriate as I sought to obtain data from exploring strategies AAW executives used to diversify with other AAW to increase diversity in their ranks for profitability and competitive advantage. Researchers use a case study design to explore present-day phenomenon when there is ambiguity with the boundaries of the phenomena (Ridder, 2017). A single case study is appropriate to study a specific group or community (Yin, 2018). A multiple case study was not appropriate for the study as the objective was to explore a more in-depth understanding of strategies related to diversification and profitability of one, geographically bound phenomenon.

Research Question

What strategies do AAW executives use to increase diversity with other AAW in their ranks to ensure profitability and maintain competitive advantage?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies do you use to increase diversity within your ranks?
- 2. What strategies have been the most successful in increasing diversity within your organization?

- 3. What strategies have failed to increase diversity within your organization?
- 4. What metrics do you use to assess the strategies implemented to increase diversity within your ranks?
- 5. How is the career ladder structured within your organization to ensure diversity?
- 6. How are mentorship programs used within your organization to increase diversity within your ranks?
- **7.** What else would you like to share about your experience with increasing diversity to ensure profitability and maintain competitive advantage?

Conceptual Framework

The framework for this study was the cognitive diversity theory (CDT) conceptualized by Hambrick in 1994. The CDT identifies the differences in the preferences and beliefs of decision makers regarding strategic goals (Meissner & Wulf, 2017) and their inference etic framing of their perception of strategic decisions (Meissner & Wulf, 2017; Mohammed & Ringseis, 2001). Theoretically, one examines the element of diversity on the surface: that which is visible, such as demographics and gender. Miller et al. (1998) defined cognitive diversity as the differences in beliefs and the upper echelon executive beliefs within an organization.

With organizational environments constructed within a collaborative climate, Meissner and Wulf (2017) posited that cognitive diversity has proven to contribute to positive outcomes in the workgroup by minimizing debiasing decision making to the

extent that cognitive diversity, as suggested by Miller et al. (1998), is an influence on indirectly linking diversity and profitability. Organizations considering diversifying upper executives could prosper from CDT to implement a distinctive workforce. This connection between diversity and profitability is new. Therefore, in this study, I aimed to explore in what ways profitable corporations promote discourse that connects workforce diversity to appeals for competitive marketing. Conversation around diversity is a type of racial discourse (Berrey, 2015), and, at the same time, often disregards the structural inequalities that continue to marginalize groups. Studying this discourse from a corporate perspective in a qualitative method provides lived experiences and diminishes the potential for bias. Organizations that consider diversifying upper executives could prosper from CDT to implement a distinctive workforce.

Operational Definitions

African American: Denotes individuals dispersed from the African homeland to the United States due to the slave trade or immigration; constitutes a significant number of persons based on economic, political, and social status (Galperin et al., 2018).

Cognitive diversity theory: Differences in the preferences and beliefs of decision makers regarding strategic goals and their inference etic framing their perception of strategic decisions (Meissner & Wulf, 2017; Mohammed & Ringseis, 2001).

Glass ceiling: A metaphor denoting an element of obstacles preventing the advancement of women and minorities in corporate leadership (Federal Glass Ceiling Commission, 1995)

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are beliefs without critical thinking (Detmering & Johnson, 2011); an acknowledgment of a position that relates to a necessary condition of the study and a procedure of the study that is not controlled by the researcher and without the research is irrelevant (Leedy & Ormrod, 2016). There were several assumptions in this research study. The first assumption was that the participants would share their experiences of strategies for elevating to executive leadership positions with full transparency. The participant selection considered were AAW in senior leadership positions. The second assumption was that barriers prevent AAW from ascending to senior leadership positions. The literature provided evidence for this assumption by highlighting the marginalization experienced by AAW in pursuing senior leadership positions (Pace, 2018). A third assumption was that AAW are viewed as supporting staff and not as senior business leaders. Supporting literary evidence stated that African Americans facilitate change and transformational leadership with a broader view, verifying the diversity value in senior leadership positions (Pace, 2018). The fourth assumption was that AAW, as senior leaders, impact a company's competitive advantage. The literature has provided evidence for this assumption through the lens of perception (see McDowell et al., 2018). One significant assumption in the research was purposeful to business and society, more pointedly to gender, race (AAW), cultural diversity, particularly crucial to corporate executives responsive to diversity, developing a more comprehensive competitive

advantage. The fifth assumption is that the results of the research could affect positive social change.

Limitations

Limitations refer to the elements that may impact the outcome of the study (Sarmiento et al., 2015). This study was limited to AAW with a sample size of five in senior leadership positions. In the District of Columbia, therefore, the limited number of AAW in senior leadership positions restricted the number of available participants.

Second, the qualitative nature of the study was a limitation. The research participants self-reported their lived experiences through virtual interviews, absent any other data sources extracted to validate the participants' responses. The verification and validation of the interviews relied on the transcripts and member checking. Member checking was the means of inviting participants to verify the interpretation of their responses as a meaningful and correct viewpoint (see Iivari, 2018).

Additionally, the study was limited to positions in a mix of industries, both federal and commercial. This study's limitations could present weaknesses beyond the researcher's control and correlate to the specific research design, funding circumspection, and other elements (Theofanids & Fountouki, 2019). The limitation was relative to AAW in executive positions and the direct correlation to increasing competitiveness. The research contained a small sample size of five participants with the minimum of a bachelor's degree, potentially restricting generalization of data to all women facing obstacles for advancement. Paramount to the study was the literature gap concerning

women in corporations' governance positions, understanding the barriers to rising to senior-level leadership, and the financial impact for competitive advantage. Further, the findings were generalized to the number of participants in this qualitative study because the data process were deemed for generalizing a larger population. Lastly, my own biases as an African American woman who served in a senior executive position was a limitation.

Delimitations

I aimed to explore the lived experiences and strategies of AAW who have attained senior leadership positions in corporate America out of an interest to advocate for promoting diversity and inclusion in leadership positions to widen the competitive advantage. Excluded were individuals from demographics who were not AAW.

Additional excluded participants included participants from neighboring areas, African American participants located outside of the contiguous United States, and overseas participants. Under normal climate circumstances, the research is delimited to interviews, field notes, and memos. However, in the United States' current pandemic state, the research was delimited to five females' virtual interviews. The population also delimited the study to only women who worked in commercial corporations and the in federal sector in senior-level leadership positions. An additional delimiter was geographical location; participants were from the District of Columbia.

Significance of the Study

The findings from this study may provide additional insight into strategies that organizations embrace to increase diversity within their ranks. By exploring the lived experiences of a diverse body of executives using the CDT lens, I intended to capture their career development path and corporate strategies used to elevate their positions to senior executive positions. The uniqueness of this study was relevant to furthering the research of strategies used for elevating a diverse population in the corporate workforce and career decision-making strategies for competitive advantage.

Maintaining a competitive advantage is an integral component of corporate success (Bouma et al., 2017). Corporate leaders develop strategies to elevate their competitiveness within their market. To maintain a competitive edge, strategies to diversify are essential in expanding to various demographics. Findings from this study may provide additional insight into what strategies AAW executives use to increase diversity with other AAW in their ranks. The data collected may be an asset to corporations seeking to diversify their leadership profiles as barriers to diversification and strategies to overcome them are presented in the analysis.

Contribution to Business Practice

One of the significant initiatives in the 21st century has been that of diversity and equality. Corporations have realized that this is the most critical factor in maintaining a definite competitive advantage (Robinson & Dechant, 1977). This study, and the data collected, are significant because of the dearth of empirical research on diversity and the

potential impact it could have on a corporation's competitive advantage. Additionally, the study is significant in that it identifies barriers that prevent career progression in organizations as senior executives and the impact on a corporation's revenue.

Furthermore, this study may expand the body of knowledge about a corporation's career decision-making strategies. The study could serve as a foundation for additional researchers to similarly explore this phenomenon with other disparate impacted groups and industries. It could also provide a scheme for the accession of a diversified workforce. By promoting the worth and development of cultures of communities, corporations could strengthen their competitive advantage by filling the diversity gap (Cletus et al., 2018).

Implications for Social Change

Workforce diversity is trending with businesses reviewing their executive suite through an optic lens of cultural mix, ethnicity, and skillsets (Huang et al., 2019). The construct of the change foundation is the buy-in of stakeholders, both internal and external, for environmental transformation. In an ever-evolving global environment, the course of business was built upon the direction of leadership—leadership with a disposition to implement diversity innovation for sustainability.

Diversified organizational leadership facilitates ample problem--solving encompassing network resources, information sharing, and creative innovation (Glass & Cook, 2017). This approach fosters the competitive advantage within the industry. The strategies expressed in this study may help corporations remove culturally identifiable

barriers to elevate senior leadership positions within a diversified workforce, thereby promoting and sustaining a competitive advantage.

Literature Review

The literature review contains an in-depth review of seminal work and subsequent research on the topic of workforce diversity or lack thereof and its impact on corporate competitive advantage. The purpose of the literature review is to present knowledge about the topic related to the business problem, address questions from existing research, and blend or summarize key literature related to the research topic (Wilson, 2017)

The introduction covers which search vehicles were appropriate for the research topic, followed by an in-depth dive into the literature regarding diversity (gender, cultural, and ethnicity – AAW's), impact on AAW, and how diversity contributes to a business's competitive advantage. Throughout the literature review process, researchers connect and intersect existing theories using data triangulation to validate and expand the study (Wolcott, 2002). The primary goal of the current academic review and professional literature was to evaluate, explore, and recap the most recent information related to exploring strategies that AAW executives have used to increase diversity with other AAW in their ranks to ensure profitability and maintain competitive advantage. The chapter concludes with a summary of the existing literature, and how it relates to the research problem.

Methods of Searching

The review of literature began with a comprehensive search of the Walden University Library to obtain relevant peer-reviewed and seminal articles. The search included business and management databases such as ABI/INFORM Complete, Academic Search Premier, and Emerald Management Journal. An additional search included multiple online databases in Google Scholar, ProQuest, Sage, ScienceDirect, and other databases.

In some instances, the BOOLEAN was used to identify prevalent content. Search terms included but were not limited to African American women in corporate America, competitive advantage, cognitive diversity theory, diversity, diversity and America, diversity and competitive advantage diversity and culture, diversity and gender, diversity and race, diversity in the workplace, equal opportunity, gender diversity and financial performance, gender inequality in leadership perceptions in corporate America, and mentoring. Additional methods used to target research consisted of the following: entering a data range to obtain data within the last 5 years, reviewing "peer-reviewed "or "scholarly articles" when presented, limiting magazines and newspaper publications, limiting the usage of books for seminal research, and limiting the inclusions of journals or databases irrelevant to the subject. I reviewed the existing literature for evidence of evolution. I discovered limited information on CDT within the databases. As I continued to explore these databases and subsequent others, several themes repeatedly emerged. I searched for articles with the terms mentioned above in conjunction with African

American women corporate leadership, corporate strategies for diversity, barriers and obstacles of African American women, gender and racial bias, CDT and corporate strategies, and C-suite and disparity. Additionally, I searched keywords such as corporate strategies for diversity, blue ocean strategies, competitive advantage, diversity in corporations, and diversity in the federal government. Finally, I organized the literature review by describing the conceptual framework first and then presenting a thematic analysis of the literature in the following categories: C-suite disparity; barriers, opportunities, and strategies; gender and racial bias; glass ceiling; and culture and diversity. Subcategories included contextual factors relative to diversity and issues from an organizational perspective, AAW in government, and AAW in corporate America.

Historical Background

Diversity is the quality or practice of various social and ethnic backgrounds of gender, culture, and racial orientation. It is the means to elevate personnel to executive positions, increase a competitive business advantage, and speak to cultural engagement internally and externally. The corporate executive level's lack of diversifying executive faces restricts a company's competitive advantage, limiting its ability to grow and compete. Organizational strategies have engaged in a bottom-up path through mentoring and education (Brondyk & Searby, 2020).

CDT

Cognitive diversity has a compelling relationship with knowledge prevalent in team innovation. Rahmi and Indarti (2019) argued that the teams' climate moderates the

connection between cognitive diversity and knowledge sharing. In the principle of management, Miller et al. (1998) inferred that cognitive diversity genesis is the culmination of cultural differences between various groups that emanates in innovation and creative problem-solving. The term cognitive diversity refers to the distinctions of group members in experiences, expertise, and perspectives. To further expound on this idea, cognitive diversity (a low impact) for leaders is visible through self-image recruitment, straying corporations from competitive success (Bapat, 2018; Canaday, 2017;). Canady (2017) stated that commonly linked with diversity are gender, race, and age, which have no interrelationship to a team's results. Instead, the differences in perspectives and knowledge base are the catalysts promoting diversity.

The framework for this study was the CDT, conceptualized by Hambrick in 1994. The CDT identifies the differences in the preferences and beliefs of decision makers regarding strategic goals (Meissner & Wulf, 2017) and their inference etic framing their perception of strategic decisions (Meissner & Wulf, 2017; Mohammed & Ringseis, 2001). Theoretically, the element of diversity appears on the surface: that which is visible, such as demographics and gender. Miller et al. (1998) defined cognitive diversity as the differences in beliefs and the upper echelon executive beliefs within an organization.

With organizational environments constructed within a collaborative climate, Meissner and Wulf (2017) posited that cognitive diversity has proven to contribute to positive outcomes in the workgroup by minimizing debiasing decision making to the

extent that cognitive diversity, as suggested by Miller et al. (1998), is an influence on indirectly linking diversity and profitability. Organizations considering diversifying upper executives could prosper from CDT to implement a distinctive workforce. The connection between diversity and profitability is new. Conversations around diversity is a type of racial discourse that, at the same time, often disregards the structural inequalities that continue to marginalize groups (Berrey, 2015). Studying this discourse from a corporate perspective in a qualitative method allowed me to examine lived experiences and diminish the potential for bias. Organizations that consider diversifying upper executives could prosper from CDT to implement a distinctive workforce.

Historical Barriers for African Americans

African Americans are not new to historical structural barriers, such as educational inequities in academics and schools, poverty, and employment (Vegas et al., 2015). In predominantly White institutions, the barriers of prejudice, discrimination, and promotions are prevalent (Dinh et al., 2014). Angel et al. (2013) posited that African American woman are faced barriers such as discrimination and social and cultural acceptance, limiting access to resources and mentorship. For example, AAW often have limits on their earnings and promotions and are limited in their career pathway decisions due the views of stereotypical patterns that make their beliefs and practices unconventional in business processes (Angel et al., 2013). Angel et al. further stated that AAW, despite the importance of mentorship, lack formal information networks, thereby limiting their access to information. These same limitations are prevalent in academics

(Frazer, 2018. The content of this review is supportive in developing the background and identifying barriers that impact AAW in corporations and the effect on the competitive market.

C-Suite Disparity

AAW's pathway of experiences to elevate to executive-level positions is a subject of discussion (Alexander, 2010; Beckwith et al., 2016; Wolfe & Dilworth, 2015). The elevation of women to executive positions increased in 2015 from 17% to 21% in 2019, according to the output of a survey of 329 United States and Canadian companies consisting of 685,000 workers (Brooks, 2019). However, the numbers have not increased for AAW, who represent only 4% of senior executives. Fraser (2019) posited that women of color lagged White men, men of color, and White women. According to Jagannathan (2019), there remains a significant underrepresentation of women at all levels, with one in five executives in the C-suite. The glass ceiling known to thwart ambitious women from climbing the corporate latter is far from the problem, suggesting that the "broken rung" and depicting the flaw from entry-to-manger-level roles is instead the culprit (Jagannathan, 2019); Brooks (2019) suggested that the lack of face time with senior leaders is prevents the elevation up the corporate ladder, preventing relationship building.

Historically, corporate directors have been White and male amidst the country evolving with gender, racial, and ethnic compositions as the leaders of capitalism. Firms began to shift, paying more attention to diversity with a push from the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002, breaking up old networks and demanding independent directors (Reed, 2019). In 2009, the Security Exchange Commission demanded companies to disclose within their proxy statement whether, and if so how, a nominating committee considers diversity in identifying nominees (as cited in Reed, 2019). However, U.S. companies are spending millions on corporate diversity but are not retaining African American professionals or promoting them to C-suite positions. African Americans account for 12% of the U.S. population, with only 3.22% of the senior executive roles in large companies and 0.8% of all Fortune 500 CEO positions, according to the analysis by the Center for Talen Innovation, a think tank in New York City (as cited in Brooks, 2019). A report published in 2014 poised that African American woman aspired three times more than White women to positions of power with an esteemed title; however, White women were twice as likely AAW to attain one (Marshall & Wingfield, 2016). Davis (2016) suggested that the progress achieved by women in the workplace remains inadequate for AAW in senior and executive-level positions.

Barriers: Opportunities and Strategies

In recent years, the amount of literature on women's leadership has increased; however, few researchers have explored leadership development of AAW (Davis & Maldonado, 2015). Much of the literature has been limited to the traditionally defined views of leaderships; that is, most of the research has concentrated on leadership and managerial aspects adopted by White males in the corporate world. However, there have been an increasing number of studies conducted on female managers and leaders that

have attempted to identify key success factors or pitfalls. Most of the research has been done with women at lower levels or in small organizations (Angel et al., 2013; Davis & Maldonado, 2015). According to Waring (2003), the existing research on leadership development relative to women has been confined to studies of women's history or feminist literature that views women through a narrow lens and fails to address how race and gender impact leadership development.

Historically, women and minorities have been legally excluded from several professional occupations (Muzio & Tomlinson, 2012). Today, AAW continue to experience many forms of discrimination within the workplace due to their gender and race. Worsley and Stone (2011) highlighted that ethnic minorities face a variety of barriers to upward mobility in organizations, such as being marginalized in employment promotions, not receiving salary raises, and having limited access to mentors and role models. Three years following Worsley and Stone, O'Brien et al. (2014) demonstrated that AAW are still encountering the same barriers by stating that AAW have reported various organizational barriers, including lack of support, devaluation of their work, and few, if any, role models or mentors.

Additionally, Ortiz and Roscigno (2009) revealed 33,202 discrimination case files demonstrating that Black women are more likely to experience discrimination in promotion than White women and that Black women reported encountering discrimination pertaining to being fired and race-related harassment. Although O'Brien et al.(2014) provided pertinent information regarding the barriers and experiences AAW

face in the workplace, a noticeable flaw in their research was the lack of subgroups of women of color. Barriers to leadership opportunities are a global phenomenon where women, when compared to men, are disproportionately concentrated in lower-level and lower authoritative leadership positions (Northouse, 2019). These barriers are generally perceived as being against women but to a larger extent are against AAW executives. According to Parker (2004) the silencing of some groups of women and men while privileging others has resulted from the theoretical perspectives that frame an understanding of gender, discourse, and organization.

Black feminists have theorized that the understanding of race, class, and gender requires researchers to view the identities as characteristics that are embedded within one another and need to be studied simultaneously instead of separately (Acker, 2012; Vannoy, 2001). Black feminist theories have emphasized that in many contexts, race and gender cannot be separated (Collins, 1990; Hooks, 1984). AAW have reported that racism, rather than sexism, is the greatest barrier to opportunities in dominant culture organizations (Edwards, 2013). Furthermore, only a few studies have addressed how race impacts leadership in dominant culture organizations (Hooks, 1984, Parker, 2005; Parker & Ogilvie, 1996). Scholars have suggested that attitudes towards women continue to be profoundly affected by past and current racial oppression (Davis & Maldonada, 2015; Feagin & Elias, 2013; Moore, 2013). Additionally, invisibility plays a large role in AAW being given the opportunity to climb the corporate ladder. According to Sessler-Bernstein and Bilimoria (2013), women of color have reported feeling invisible due to a lack of

respect and feeling as though they are not valued by the organization. Furthermore, according to Lewis and Neville (2015), another challenge that AAW face is marginalization in the workplace. The marginalization is accomplished through feelings of invisibility in the form of silence and being made to feel less significant and organizationally suitable based on gender and race (Lewis & Neville, 2015).

Leadership

Leadership positions in higher education has few AAW (Irby, 2014). In 2007, 17% of the professional staff in American higher education were people of color (National Center Education Statistics, 2009). In a study consisting of AAW holding leadership positions in universities across the United States, Irby (2014) posited that those AAW guard their personal full authentic expression in the workplace to achieve leadership status.

African American challenges are race and gender in comparison to their European American colleagues. According to Montgomery et al. (2014), AAW have three main barriers to gain promotion and tenure in the academic arena: (a) lack of socialization to faculty life, (b) lack of meaningful mentoring, and (c) the inability to articulate a sustainable research agenda. Davis et al. (2011) suggested factors that may contribute to the success of AAW in academia: the completion of a dissertation, consistent performance criteria, and successful tenure and promotion. Although a slight difference exists in the direct backgrounds of the women in the group, the views of how African Americans perceived their career advancement were similar with the participants

Byrd and Scott (2018) ascertained that working a leadership position is an authoritative role that includes a certain amount of power or influence. Predominately European Americans hold these types of positions (Byrd, 2014). Byrd inferred that those AAW believed leadership positions based on their gender, race, and social class were biased. European Americans have undermined AAW in leadership positions in the workplace.

AAW and Mentoring

A key factor of success for African American women traversing to obtain a senior executive leadership position is mentoring. Garvey et. al., (2014) suggest that mentoring is a resource that can help someone build his or her career. Garvey et al. highlighted the variety of purposes of a mentor to include the development of managers or leaders, change of positions in the workplace, promote people to senior positions, support change, and improve performance.

Various scholars define mentoring using different words and phrases. According to Clayton et al., (2013) mentoring is a term identifying how protégé assist individuals with development of their professional career path. Leck and Orser (2013) defined mentoring as a relationship between a younger, less experienced individual, such as a protégé, and an older, more experienced individual, who is considered the mentor. Hu et al. (2014) further supported Leck and Orser (2013) by stating that mentoring is an interpersonal relationship developed and cultivated between a senior, more experienced employee (the mentor) and a junior, less experienced employee (the protégé) enhances

the junior employee's career development. Rutti et al. (2012) provided an expanded definition of mentoring by defining it as a nurturing process in which a more skilled or experienced person serves as a role model and teaches, sponsors, encourages, counsels, and befriends a less skilled and experienced individual. Allen and Butler (2014) chose to define mentoring as a process by which an individual of superior rank, high performance, and prestige counsels, coaches, and facilitates the intellectual and career development of a junior employee within the same organization. There are over 40 definitions of what a mentor is, but those definitions share the view that mentors are individuals who provided various personal and professional support to junior or protégé employees (Ghosh & Reio, 2013).

Mentorship is a critical and historical technique that prepares African American women (AAW) for leadership positions. Choosing to prepare and coach other aspiring AAW leaders for organizational leadership success helps to ensure that aspiring AAW leaders are ready for the senior leadership workforce. In terms of influencing aspiring AAW leaders of the future, AAW leaders have historically used mentorship to prepare, influence, and encourage other AAW who have leadership potential (Mullings, 2014). A critical element of mentorship prevalent in the African American community is the concept of "other mothering." Ospina and Foldy (2009) implied "other mothering" is a survival technique that began during slavery in which mothers take responsibility for the children of other mothers. This concept can be used within an organizational context, as well. AAW leaders tend to mentor other AAW within organizations when the mentee

expresses the potential to elevate (Museus, 2014). According to Dominquez and Hager (2013), mentoring programs have shown to increase personnel retention, reduce organizational attrition, increase career satisfaction, accelerate the development of leadership, and reduce the learning curve in today's organizational markets. Rutti et al. (2012) suggested that when mentoring includes the overall professional development of employees, both parties, 49 the mentor and the mentee, seek something positive from the mentoring relationship and mutually benefit from the exchange. Furthermore, Craig et al. (2012) reiterated the impact of mentoring by stating that the strong link between career mentoring and positive employee outcomes include extrinsic success, such as increased compensation, promotion eligibility, and overall career mobility.

Aside from promotion eligibility, increased compensation, and career mobility, Dziczkowski (2013) asserted that benefits derived from mentoring include reduction in stress, improved self-esteem, increased professional skills, increased insight, and greater awareness of different approaches. Clayton et al. (2013) corroborated Dziczkowski by stating that mentoring benefits both the mentor and the mentee. Also, mentor/mentee relationships provide the opportunity for mentees to share their experiences, provide feedback, and increase their levels of confidence in their leadership abilities (Clayton et al., 2013). Also, support behaviors, such as mentoring, are associated with positive work attitudes and outcomes, greater career success, and increased likelihood of upward mobility (Eby et.al., 2013). As Leck and Orser (2013) reported, mentoring enables women to overcome career obstacles, gain information and insight, seize power,

understand organizational politics, obtain feedback, and gain access to resources.

Dworkin et al. (2012) further supported the positive effects of women's mentorship by stating that organization has a strong mentoring program for women, it increases the likelihood of women rising to senior management level career roles. Leck and Orser (2013) and Dworkin et al. (2012) reported positive outcomes when women are involved in mentoring relationships. Germain, Herzog, and Hamilton (2012) asserted that in some professional male-dominated workplaces, women experience a lack of female mentors, role models, and networks, resulting in isolation and low self-efficacy, creating professional barriers. However, Skaggs et al. (2012) concluded that if more women represented executives and board-level roles, the female managerial representation, in turn, would increase mentorship, access to better social networks, and reduce, if not eliminate, negative gender stereotypes. The mentoring of women, in general, has been shown to increase a woman's marketability and increases the likelihood of women acquiring senior-level leadership positions (Dworkin et al., 2012

In general, mentoring women has shown to increase a women's marketability and increase the likelihood of acquiring senior leadership positions (Dworkin, et al., 2012). Pittman (2012) posited those women who are categorized as part of the double jeopardy rule, female and African American, face issues of pressure to be symbolic role models unlike White women. Jones et al. (2013) suggest mentoring African American women have positive effects. For example, Jones et al. (2013) stated that mentoring Black women, especially in 51 predominantly White organizations, mitigate the challenges that

Black female professionals 'experience. However, it is essential to note that Jones et al. asserted that the literature suggests that Black women experience invisibility, social exclusion, and poor mentoring, resulting in an organization that can effectively provide support and mentoring networks that aid in organizational leadership success

Diversity in Corporate America's Workforce

Diversity in the workplace is essential to an organization. The term diversity in the United States workforce is subjective for identifying qualified men and women of various races, ages, ethnicities, and sexual orientations (Byrd & Scott, 2018). The similar and dissimilar characteristics of diversity are not limited to gender, race, color; ethnicity; age, socioeconomic status; religion; culture norms and customs, professional work experience, and professional adaptability (Scott, 2018). Diversity programs are positioned in organizations to ensure equality, fairness, and opportunities for all races and gender. Buttner et al. (2016) focused on employees of color in U.S. organizations and the causes and effects of the underrepresentation of African American leaders. Additionally, Buttner et al. (2016) discussed the importance of strategic diversity initiatives in organizations. European Americans endorsed qualified African American leaders and supported equal opportunity, but racism exists (Buttner et al. 2012). According to Frey (2018), the United States is experiencing a diversity explosion expounding various individual attitudinal changes, organizational practices, and the norm of American politics.

According to Hunt et al (2018) based on 346 participating companies between the United States and the United Kingdom, the average gender representation in executive

leadership positions increased by 2% points to 14% with cultural and ethnic diversity showing increase of 1% point to 13% (Hunt et al., 2018). According to Hunt et al (2018) the plight of how to effectively leverage inclusion and diversity for value creation remains uncertain. However, Page (2019) offers logic with a model of diversity based on an individual's ability, knowledge, and culture. This creates a unique tool linking cognitive collection and identity diversity as an essential ingredient to develop a diversity bonus.

The persistent disparities of underrepresented women in management positions affect their career and performance. Conducting a study using 81 publicly traded firms out of 2,000, Graham et al. (2017) examined the influences of gender diversity in executive positions impacted by two management structures. Differences were absent in identifying an association of a top HR executive in the proportion of women executives—an envisioned structure in a corporate hierarchy in promoting diversity, one that symbolically operates. In 2004, wage earnings for African American women were 86 percent of Caucasian women's earnings based on a significant body of research (Key et al., 2012). The study results identified that Caucasian occupied positions were in high regard than the positions held by African Americans. Achieving senior-level positions is a significant milestone in career progression. The researchers' findings identified the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) perceptions of an ineffective infrastructure, making it challenging to influence gender diversity.

According to Graham et al. (2017), there is a litany of factors influencing women as executives. A collection of evidence across economics, industrial relations, sociology, psychology, and human resource (HR) industries on management literature supporting labor demand and labor supply-related, exemplifies women's low representation in management (Graham et al., 2017; Orser and Leck, 2010). Graham et al (2017) posited the importance in understanding the impact of labor demand and labor supply in women's attainment of senior leadership positions and equally significant understanding a company's progress or lack thereof with gender diversity in management.

Diversity and Business

Diversity in the broadest definition is championed by companies in a fast-paced global market which encompasses gender, racio ethnicity, age, and sexual orientation inclusiveness. Often diversity is not at the top of business priorities due to the unidentified evidence of the payback on investment submitting less predictable and tangible benefits (Robinson & Dechant, 1997). Instead, the argument hosted by corporate human resource executives is diversity is the right thing to do with the hope that management will support and promote a diversified environment (Robinson & Dechant, 1997).

A major conundrum for corporations is to identify the criteria for gender equality and corporate governance in modern management in both the private and public sectors (Baez et al., 2018). One such issue is answering the question of why so few women in executive leadership positions. Two complementary principles of consideration: the first

is social justice, providing the same opportunities for women that are offered to men, including senior executive management, systemically creating positive discrimination remove previous detriments. The second is exponential support provided by academic and business literature that showcases how gender diversified teams at the senior executive and board level promotes compelling business enhancements (Báez et al., 2018).

The elevation of women to executive leadership positions has increased within the last decades of the twentieth century (Gamble & Turner, 2015). With a rise in women professional advancement, there was a narrowing in the gender wage gap, and a decline in sex segregation and a slow trek of women to management ranks (Stryker, 2018). From zero percentage of women as senior executives in Fortune 500 companies; with 11.0 percent women representing senior leadership positions in 2001. In general, women hold 52 percent of the professional ranks, but still trail behind male executives. However, African Americans fair worse, holding 3.1 percent of the board seats of Fortune 500 companies in 2010, in contrast to 12.7 held by Caucasian women (Evans, 2011; Stryker, 2018). Still, they face the same hiring discrimination. According to Fan (2018) an economist from the University of Chicago and Stanford University, submits that less than one-fifth of C-suite executives at large publicly traded U.S. companies are women, with 24 of the CEOs at Fortune 500 companies are women which three of those African American women. Further noted, 50 years of economic history proves that inclusive workplaces make everyone more prosperous. Additionally, if access to equal education

across groups and the disappearance of discrimination is prevalent, the U.S. GDP per capita would grow by another 15 to 20 percent. An inclusive culture removes dependence on existing sustainability and expands market growth. Studies conducted by the Center for Talent Innovation analyzed the impact of diversity on innovation and performance, comparing a national survey of 1,800 professionals, 40 case studies, and a host of interviews and focus groups (Hewlett et al., 2003). The results of the study identified that companies with leaders possessing inherent and acquired diversity were more competitive than other companies.

Comparatively, analysis of diversity in leadership with market outcomes espoused that diversified companies excelled in out innovated and outperformed other companies (Stryker, 2018). Fan (2018) suggest strategy failure is impacted by margin or growth choice. Margin choice, revenues, focuses on short term needs toward incremental change. A decline in the diversity numbers intensifies a company's recruitment ability to buy diversified workforce. Whereas growth choice concentrates on investing on the existing workforce through deliberate talent development and supporting diverse advance talent through a supporting ecosystem (Fan, 2018)

Diversity: Boardroom

Diversity is a trendy subject gaining attention form scholars and policymakers (Moreno-Gomez et al., 2018). Referred to as a double-edged sword, the benefits of diversity promote creativity and quality performance. Hsu et al. (2019) explored the norm of gender, age, tenure, and skillsets of board member's attributes into a comprehensive

diversity index, with data output articulating positive operating performances on boardroom diversity. However, in larger firms, the impact of strategic change presents a negative correlation with operating performance and board diversity. Whereas, with smaller firms, there was a positive correlation.

The Crain's list of public companies shows 103 women serving on the board of 40 largest companies in 2019Daniel, 2019); yet 2014, there were only 74. In corporate Chicago percentages of female directors make up 24 percent of the board members of the top 40 companies with the previous year's national average listed at 24 percent, according to Spencer Stuart's recruitment firm. Minorities make up 16 percent of directors locally, shy of the federal 17 percent in 2018 for the top 200 companies by revenue in the S&P 500 (Daniel, 2019).

In Illinois, on March 29, the House passed a bill 61-27 vote requiring a board of each public company to have at least one woman, African American, and one Hispanic. However, Daniel (2019) posited the status quo is not working for minorities and women, while opponents are raising reverse discrimination. There is a growing wave of diversifying with minority women understanding the value diversification promotes in elevating business. The largest 200 S&P 500 companies by revenue have benefitted in market expansion with an increase of 9 percent of directors seated with African Americans, and 4 percent were Latino (Daniel, 2019). The slow elevation of younger African American executives does not include women. Younger minorities cultivate meaningful relationships through their roles on the board and vouches for other

minorities creating a virtuous cycle (Daniel, 2019). Additionally, the growing wave of diversity has expanded tentacles into the business expansion of areas otherwise limited to the norm of the white male-dominated environment, stifling the big and small corporations' potential marketing reach.

Evolution of Diversity

To understand the current state of diversity, one must understand its history. The history of race and gender relations in the U.S. shaped the political, social, cultural, and economic environment and ideology within the United States (Pérez Huber & Solorzano, 2015). This historical, ideological perspective manifested in behavior, reflecting the thought of superiority over non-European/White groups (Nkomo & Hoobler, 2014; Pérez Huber & Solorzano, 2015). Historically, researchers demonstrated that African Americans continually are impacted by such ideologies in the workplace (DeCuir-Gunby & Gunby 2016). This superiority ideology carried over into the workplace and created an environment of workplace discrimination for African Americans (Nkomo, 2009). This resulted in practices that excluded access to knowledge relative and networking opportunities that could assist with navigating the workplace political landscape (Angel et al., 2013; DeCuir-Gunby, & Gunby 2016; Johns, 2013).

There were many points in history that impacted the African American worker and the HR strategy. World War II marked a period in history that heightened the need for production workers and required HR to formulate a strategy to create an environment of diversity for the inclusion of African Americans in the workforce (Nkomo & Hoobler,

2014). Managing this new group of workers, while being cognizant of the European/White male racial ideology, was the focus of this HR diversity strategy (Nkomo & Hoobler, 2014). This consisted of creating a position and employing African Americans to oversee this new group of workers and provide the necessary education and training for both groups of new African American workers (Delton, 2007). Although this new group of workers was the start of organizational diversity, there still existed the racial ideology of negativity that would later ignite racial tensions and mark the 1960's as the start of the Civil Rights Movements, as well as the institution of several legal remedies towards equality and diversity (Lindsey et al., 2013; Nkomo & Hoobler, 2014). Regarding this new model, this may have also been the start of professional or career segregation, which was when African Americans steered towards a specific career path versus having a career of choice (Cook & Glass, 2013). Even in today's organizations and possibly ingrained as an ideology, there tends to be a heavy presence of African Americans in the urban or community development or diversity and inclusion type departments and careers (Cook & Glass, 2013) versus science, technology, engineering, arts, and mathematics (STEAM) careers.

Gender and Racial Bias

The concept of diversity is not as simple as black and white. There is a level of complexity resulting from historical events and experiences (Bond & Haynes, 2014; Davis & Maldonado, 2015). Historically, in the United States the depths of diversity coincide with differentiating resources inclusive of gender race, ethnicity, culture, and

sexual orientation, leaving impressions upon society, the workplace, and generations of African American women (Bond & Haynes, 2014; Brown & Segrist, 2016; Byrd, 2014). One impression upon society and the workplace is the characterization of leadership and who should be in that role. There are individual perceptions of African American women that may hinder their ability to gain a senior-level position. These perceptions include the inability of this group to perform the role as a function of being a woman, where society deems men to have leader characteristics, and African American, where some have the ideology of this group being lazy and unmotivated (Angel et al., 2013; EEOC, n.d.; Johns, 2013; Kameny et al., 2013; Ratcliff et al., 2015). With the number of degrees and experiences ascribed to African American women, who function at a high level, a lack of preparedness for a senior-level position is hardly a fair assessment of their ability to perform the job (Angel et al., 2013; BLS, 2015). Society has historically determined that the qualities of a leader or someone in a senior-level position are traditionally someone that is European/White and male. From a workplace perspective, societal norms of what a leader looks and behaves like (traditionally European/White and male) may impact an organization's recruitment and outreach practice. Impacting the number of African American women in the talent pool and minimizes the number of African American women in senior-level positions (Davis & Maldonado, 2015; John, 2013).

Leadership development programs within organizations must include organizational and HR leaders to promote an ideological structure of diversity and inclusion (Johns, 2013). There could also be 39 instances of unconscious bias, where

White/European males in senior-level positions continue to advance or mentor like candidates as traditionally perpetrated without thought for diversity (EEOC, n.d.; Johns, 2013). From an African American group perspective, this characterization of leadership contributed to conflicting messages from birth to adulthood. At an early age, African American girls learn at home or school that they can become anything in terms of their role in the world or workforce. (Lent & Brown, 2013; Watts et al., 2015). As they progress to adulthood, they experienced differences in how society and the workforce treat them versus other racial and gendered groups; their perception changes about their self-efficacy, mainly when underrepresentation in specific roles or careers is evident (Rosette & Livingston, 2012; Watts et al., 2015). This history of societal and workplace norms may impact behavior, such as decision-making strategies regarding submission for employment in an organization, pursuit of a senior-level position, or election to retain employment. To counter the negative impact of history on a disparate group, the federal government established laws at an attempt to mandate organizations and provide equal opportunities for African American women (Graham et al., 2016; Nkomo, & Hoobler, 2014).

AAW

In the United States, African Americans historically were mandated to work both homes and fields as slaves for their masters. Women and men worked in many capacities, but women, on the other hand, were less valued than men (Reinhart, 2016). Enslaved women were maliciously beaten and dehumanized. Forced into physical and sexual labor,

labeling as socially and economically underprivileged. Over the years, it is evident that the same discrepancy in value continues between African American men and African American women. Stewart (2012) suggested that African American men prospered from equal opportunity laws more than African American women. African American men elevated with employment opportunities, whereas African American women suppressed into lower positions. The scarce number of African American women in corporate executive leadership positions is demonstrated by the same phenomenon.

African American women are affected by gender stereotypes, coupled with the effects of racism. Racism and discriminations are elements familiar to African American women and differentiate the treatment of women of another ethnicity. Perry, Pullen, and Oser (2012) stated that African American women fall into a nuanced category of the oppressed, impacted negatively by an acceptable level of disenfranchisement socially because of race, gender, and social class. African American women not only given fewer advancement opportunities; they statistically earn lower wages and not revered in a positive light (Key et al., 2012).

Ursula Burns, in 2009, became the first African American woman CEO of a Fortune 500 company. In 2017, the resignation of Rosalind Brewer, CEO of Sam's Club, meant there were no African American women in high-level corporate positions.

Vanderbroeck (2010) posited there are specific challenges women face when attempting to climb the corporate ladder. There is a vast array of obstacles ranging from the

assumption that men and women need to have the same leadership competencies, suggesting that women need to pattern their behavior to those of men" (pp.756-766).

AAW in Government

There is little research on how African American women (AAW) perceive opportunities in the federal government; the research conducted suggests the reality of subjective discrimination (Kennedy & Bielefeld, 2002). Naff (2019) purports to provide missing data on whether the same opportunities to climb the corporate ladder are available for women and enlist in the policymaking process like Euro-American males. The federal government established the Civil Service Reform Act of 1978 (CSRA) to achieve democracy in the federal government to exemplify the actual demographic fabric of understanding and representing a diversified workforce's values and diverse needs.

Between 1991 and 2009 the Government Accounting Office (GAO) reported on the lack of diversity at the Senior Executive Service level for women with focus on minorities (Stalcup, 2008a). The data presented identified the low percentage of African American women in government-wide SES appointments compared to positions in the civilian labor force (CLF) (Rezendes, 2003 & Stalcup, 2008a). Further disclosed in the GAO report was a total of 6,555 SES appointees with 3.5 percent of AAW and 6.1 percent in CLF positions (U.S. Department of Labor, 2007). This disparity reflects a representation rate of 3.5 percent as a valid representation of AAW in SES positions.

The lack of diversity has elevated to the top of the agenda in both public and private sectors. Top executives are acknowledging the essentiality of diversity in

innovating, developing, and maintaining a quality, and inclusive workforces in the government (Marquis et al, 2008 & Stalcup, 2008a). In 2003, President George W. Bush acknowledge the Supreme Court decision highlighting the benefits of diversity and the foundation of America's strength (Bush, 2003).

AAW in Corporate America

African American women are among the fastest growing populations of college graduates, not reflected in corporate American's executive management. Malveaux (2013) infers those African American women are at the bottom of the economic income reports. Until 2009, there "were no African Americans who led Fortune 500 corporations" (p.14). Those African American women that we can penetrate the barriers of gender and race confronted with a significant "pay gap between their earnings and those of White women, Black men and White men" (p.15).

African American women in corporate American find themselves in stagnant middle-management positions. According to the statistics reported by African American women make up 7.4% of employees in S&P 500 companies, but they only represent 0.2% of CEOs of those same companies. Most of the African American women in these companies are in first or mid-level management positions, representing 3.8% of employees. The boards of S&P 500 companies are also primarily composed of white men. According to the 2016 Board Diversity Census of Women and Minorities on Fortune 500 Boards, white men make up 69.2% of board members, while African

Americans make up only 7.9%. More specifically, African American women sit in only 2.2% of total board seats of S&P 500 companies (Deloitte, 2016).

Cultural Diversity and Firm Performance

Cultural diversity is the culmination of a mix of individuals. In existing literature cultural diversity is theorized as a tradeoff of strategic tasks and creative problem solving. Within the literature review, diversity emerges as cultural differences between individuals (Corritore et al., 2018). However, the researcher dissects diversity as a contrast of an individual's element that parses into interpersonal and intrapersonal forms. Corritore et al., (2018) presents a stance of cultural heterogeneity impact on innovation and execution as a vehicle inciting creativity to propagate positive market valuations. Organizational culture influences members through motivation and commitment and group creativity and innovation. Barth (2018) posited cultural diversity as an instrument for business sustainability and competitive advantage. Hernandez (2014) suggested recruitment diversity is a business and social necessity that can garner unexpected benefits by embracing generational, gender, socioeconomic differences, and cultural perspective. However, laws mandating diversity, has had little regard for improving strategic decisions through cognitive diversity.

Recruitment strategies for inclusion hiring is anchored to 20th century solutions based on external appearances regardless of difference in perspective (Hernandez, 2014).

Barth (2018) presented a case study aimed to identify the immigrant workforce's integration and the challenges a diversified population presents for business sustainability

and the competitive advantage. Hernandez (2014) inferred that a *Harvard Business Review* article reported that a brand-new breed of CEO can construct a new community for competitive advantage by framing corporate objects with common vision and values, and diversifying the workforce linked to business and organizational metrics to expand the competitive advantage. A greater organizational capacity is achieved through a wide range of cultural resources for creativity and innovation for change and firm profitability (Corritore, et al., 2018).

Further contended by Hernandez (2014) a competitive advantage is achievable by framing corporate objectives common vision and values, linking business and organizational metrics, aligning social initiative to energize the organization, and incorporating diversity as a source of competitive advantage. A successful diversity management is the ability to be supported profitably by an organizational culture that embraces diverse values and supports culturally diverse backgrounds (Hernandez, 2014). References to the balance of a sustainable business model of financial health, environmentally conscious and social factors are likely opened to diversity. Furthermore, there is a direct link between diversity and profit and revenue when a company champions a diverse workforce (Hunt et al., 2018).

Gender Diversity and Financial Performance

The impact of gender diversity, specifically the female gender, on business, is a constant debate on whether a company is more productive and experiences a competitive advantage increase (Galbreath, 2016). Researchers have identified that homogenous

boards were contributors to company failure and poor governance (Larkin et al., 2020). Researchers further inferred that a board with a closed mindset hinders solving a corporate problem when the board lacks diversification (Burgess & Tharenou, 2002; Larkin et al., 2020). A diverse board projects an increase in moral and ethical compass in decision making (Arfken et al., 2004). Researchers have indicated through studies that diversity restricts myopic decision-making while increasing positive and innovative ideas, improved problem solving, and strategic planning (Larkin et al., 2020).

In a study conducted by Professor Zhang, consisting of 1,069 top firms across 35 countries and 24 industries, gender diversity was akin to increase corporate productivity measured by financial health and market value (Turban et al., 2019). Galbreath (2018) presents a case study on diversity on the board of directors and financial performance and the potential direct link of the two. The conformity of evidence of the study correlated to women on boards of directors' impact to a positive financial performance yielded neutral or negative results (Galbreath, 2018). However, Galbreath (2018) codified three ways his study advances on the impact of women's influence on boards. One example, women serving on the board, are effective in developing personnel policies. Boulotta, (2013), Harjoto et al. (2015), and Jain and Jamali (2016) inferred those women on the board link to corporate social responsibility (CSR) influences the ratings of CSR promoting market competitiveness Chen et al. (2016) suggests that women on the board intensify corporate acquisition promoting an increase in financial performance.

Based on comparative studies, gender diversity drives improved financial performance by projecting an attractive work environment for talent acquisition (Turban et al., 2019). Some researchers contend that gender diversity promotes innovative thinking alerting investors that the business is competitively run. Turban et al., 2019). The conjecture of diversity and financial performance correlation is not a simple formula but a complex context of dependency on industry norms for gender inclusion (Zhang, 2019).

Gender Inequality in Leadership Perceptions in Corporate America

Societal norms grade wo men's abilities as a leader against the characteristic of men as leaders (Patterson et al, 2012). Women are often known as managers of the home and family, none which equates to effective leadership in the workplace thus, leadership is not synonymous with matters of the family as the consumption of time prohibits career elevation and minimizing women's earning power, leaving women with little to no time for after-hours socializing, networking and corporate functions which often are required in senior positions (Patterson et al., 2012). Women have a propensity for focusing on the advancement of the people around them instead of their own professional elevation (Galbreath, 2016). Their focus tends to lean towards their husbands, personal and educational development of their children and as caregivers to elderly parents (Cheung & Halpern, 2010). However, none of these elements equate to experience for corporate elevation but as a barrier to organizational advancement.

Women in postindustrial society have an advantage over their counterparts because of likeable leadership style. (Lammers & Gast, 2017). Lammars and Gast (2017) found the empathetic and gentle nature of women leaders promoted more production than the aggressive dominant and directive leadership style of men. However, with the desirable leadership style of women, there is no evidence that women's leadership styles garner access to leadership positions. Further, Lammars and Gast posited that discussion of the notion of women's leadership being preferred over men in corporations hinders the chances that women would be chosen for leadership positions. Women focus is on their lack of opportunity and the perception of themselves by others. Instead, their attention should turn toward the work and best way to productively engage. This can be counterproductive as it can create a barrier where none existed and prevents an optimistic outlook.

Diversity and Competitive Advantage

The concept of the competitive advantage is the impetus of forging new markets and expanding on the existing markets with innovative strategies to remain competitive (Išoraitė, 2018). Korasakiene (2012) posits that positional and performance advantage is an inclusive element of competitive advantage based on the resources and business acumen of the organization. The definition of competitive advantage is an extreme market advantage over competitors solely on cost allocation and the operational strategy. According to Gareche et al., (2019) competitive advantage is the compilation of capabilities enabling a company to exhibit exceptional performance amidst their

competitors. For sustainability, organizations are focus on corporate growth or strengthening the company's position in market performance. Conceptually, Išoraitė (2018) identifies the competitive advantage as defined by various theorist such as Porter (1980) suggesting that the heart of a company is the ability to perform competitively with low cost differentiating the advantage and a strategic plan. Porter (1980) further states the competitive advantage is a fundamental growth birth from a firm's value to attract customers and excel the creation cost. Whereas Urbancová (2013) infer that an organization considerably influences competitiveness based on the innovative activities built on inimitable skills and abilities. Innovations is the tool to achieving greater competitiveness with minimal product cost and greater product quality.

There is a significant correlation between diversity and the competitive advantage (Hunt et al., 2018). In a study conducted by Li and Zhou (2010) on how to attain a competitive advantage, they identified that market trends and management integrity establishes competitive advantage through debilitating costs, differentiation, and market diversity. Strengthening a company with a diversified and inclusive workforce increases creativity and innovation to homogenous groups and attract a diverse customer base increasing profit (Henderson & Rank-Christman 2016) According to Hunt et al., (2018) delivering through diversity impacts the growth of a company and business performance. Furthermore, in extended research Hunt et al., (2018) postulated the global relevance of the interrelationship between diversity of leadership in large companies and financial outperformance. A dataset of 1,000 companies spanning 12 countries were measured on

financial performance and value creation (economic profit margin). Companies representing gender diversity in the executive roles outperformed on profitability by 21% with 27% increase in value creation.

Glass Ceiling: Federal Government

There is a disparity of African American women in Federal Senior Executive Service (SES) positions with a 3.5 percent representation validating underrepresentation of the group (Jackson et al., 2014). The absence of sufficient representation of African American women and minorities in the SES thwarts the reflection of diversity of the communities (Zellar, 2003). Northouse (2010) suggest women are disproportionately concentrated in lower authoritative leadership positions attributed to a glass ceiling barrier (Meyerson & Fletcher, 2000). The glass ceiling is an invisible barrier preventing advancement based on biases of attitude and organization. The glass ceiling epidemic forced the federal government to create a Federal Glass Ceiling Commission focused on the barriers to executive-level positions in the U.S. institutions and organizations for women and people of color. According to Patton & Haynes (2014), the Federal Glass Ceiling Commission published four reports documenting the existence of barriers for the labor force of women, racial and ethnic minorities.

As a metaphor, the glass ceiling specifies the concealed barriers which prevents individuals from upward mobility in organizations (Cotter et al., 2001). As suggested by Jackson and Bouchard (2019) the glass ceiling is misunderstood and is mostly measured through the inequality of minorities and women in business and public organizations.

Patton and Haynes (2014) inferred that the glass ceiling perspective historically focuses on white women and that future is required to identify the intersectionality of white women, control and intersect. The usefulness of this review exemplifies the government's complicities in creating barriers to prevent women to elevate to executive level positions.

In a competitive global market, companies are noting the impact that barriers, the glass ceiling, have on the advancement of African American women and the detriment to the organization (Davis & Maldonado, 2015). The impact of such a barrier for African American women who feel stonewall in their career can adversely affect productivity and increase organizational cost in terms of turnover and salaries (Ragins & Sundstrom, 1990). Moreover, as advanced by Collins (2000) identifying the power structures constraining African American women and how to eliminate these structures is imperative to empower them for successful leadership.

The Glass Ceiling: Culture and Diversity

As more research was conducted on the glass ceiling experience, Hideg and Wilson (2014) stated that scholars realized that women were not the only disadvantage group but so were minorities. Hideg and Wilson (2014) further inferred most positions were filled by executives who share the same culture who are white men. Furthermore, Hideg and Wilson (2014) suggest the white male organizations are the elite group holding executive leadership positions. The dominant group uses its superiority to obstruct the rise of the lesser dominant group. According to Bruning and Cadigan (2014) a diverse management in organizations has become one of the biggest challenges with

HR management because leaders do not understand the dynamics of a diverse workforce and the impact on the competitive market.

Kulik and Roberson, (2008) stated in the United States, 74% of Fortune 500 companies use some type of diversity training. Jones et al. (2005) implied for management diversity is about the bottom line which is leadership motive for implementing training. Doherty et al. (2010) stated diversity is popular in an organization and a highly recognized objective that purpose is to balance demographic changes and economic pressures. However, some organizations do not subscribe to diversifying their business until they realize their consumer base is waning due to their noncompetitive workforce. In some cases, organizations remain steadfast in not diversifying until profitability decreases.

The Inclusion of Race and Gender in the Leadership Literature

Implementing better diversity strategies and incorporating a strategic diversity selection process within organizations has been long talked about and supposedly "implemented" into recruitment and promotion strategies. In fact, more than 25 years have passed since the focused study of gender and diversity in organizations began in management and related fields (Berry & Bell, 2012). However, as mentioned by Gündemir et al. (2014), although organizations have since begun considering the significance of ethnic team and organizational performance, society's need for recruiting and selecting the most qualified individuals for leadership positions, and preventing unnecessary loss of ethnic minority talent, it is very surprising that the number of

research studies on this subject is limited. Though Gündemir et al. (2014) conducted research to address the lack of literature regarding ethnic minority leaders; a major limitation to the research was the use of males only. Therefore, the results cannot be generalized to female targets. Essentially, this presents an even smaller range of research regarding AAW leaders within organizations and their experiences with obtaining leadership positions. As asserted by Holvino (2010), in the field of organizational studies and organizational change there is little evidence of the importance that race and gender intersections is acknowledged, which is exacerbated due to the understanding of intersectionality being underdeveloped.

Transition

Section 1 pinpointed the specific business problem: some corporate leaders lack strategies to increase diversity in their ranks to ensure profitability and maintain a competitive advantage. The results of this qualitative research study could provide additional insight into strategies that organizations could embrace to increase diversity within their ranks and expand their competitive advantage. Other components in Section 1 included the significance of the study and literature review. Topics discussed in the literature review were in-depth reviews of seminal work on workforce diversity encompassing gender, culture, ethnicity, and corporate competitive advantage. After a brief explanation of appropriate search vehicles relative to the research topic, a discussion on diversity (gender, culture, and ethnicity – African American women), the impact of cognitive diversity theory on African American women, and competitive advantage

ensues. This study's conceptual framework was the cognitive diversity theory (CDT) conceptualized by Hambrick in 1994. Section 2 included the Purpose Statement for this research study, specific guidance on the researcher's role, and the research methodology and design. As the principal researcher, I defined the data collection and analysis data, processes, and responsibilities relative to ethical compliance boundaries for the qualitative research and the required reliability and validity metrics.

In Section 3, I present the study's findings relevant to professional practice and recommendations for social change. Section 3 also covers suggestions for implementing strategies and future research to expand workforce diversification and the related impact on a company's competitive advantage. I present the study's outcome on business practices, positive social change recommendations and propose future research and action on business diversification reflection and the impact on the competitive advantage. Finally, in Section 3, I concluded the study and reflect on my doctoral research journey.

Section 2: The Project

In this section, I discuss the qualitative research methodology for the study; qualitative research explores an issue and empowers individuals to tell their stories and experiences (see Creswell, 2012). Ultimately, qualitative research concentrates on the perceptions and experiences that have molded a human situation's intricacies. There is a thematic methodology drawing conclusions based on identifiable themes from data collection and analysis. Qualitative research commences with identifying a pattern or problem and is exploratory in a conclusion. In this section, I review the research methodology used to evaluate AAWs' experiences holding executive leadership positions. I also elaborate on issues surrounding trustworthiness and ethical procedures implemented for the participant selection; the techniques used to identify, contact, and recruit participants; the instrumentation; data collection procedures; and how categories aided data analysis.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies that AAW executives use to increase diversity with other AAW in their ranks to ensure profitability and maintain competitive advantage. The participants consisted of five executive-level managers with 10 years of experience who have successfully implemented strategies to increase diversity in their company within the District of Columbia. The implication for social change is the ability for corporations to attract culturally diverse applicants, thereby expanding the workforce to a diversified market

competitively. Diversity could be a tool by which corporations ensure they are meeting the needs of society. Progressive organizations must show sensitivity to upholding social, cultural, and ethical values of the employed and serve diverse communities, which could result in more opportunities and promote social impact by allowing diversified workforce's ascension to leadership positions (Saxena, 2014).

Role of the Researcher

The researcher's qualitative role is the vehicle of data collection (Fusch et al 2018). Researchers use three standard qualitative data collection methods: identified interviews, observation, and focus groups (Moser & Korstjen, 2018). Typically, interviews are semi structured. The interviewer develops the questions based on comprehensive knowledge of the study matter with the flexibility to modify as needed to maintain the integrity and the data collection (Moser & Korstjen, 2018). My role as the researcher for this qualitative single case study was to meticulously design the exploration to ensure the collection, organization, and interpretation of data supported the research question (see McCusker & Gunaydin, 2014.

I have over 15 years of experience as a senior executive and a management consulting firm owner. Most of my executive leadership experience is with medium to large companies servicing the Department of Defense and other federal agencies and commercial businesses, providing streamlined processes and logistics for reorganizing to expand services to a broader market, both internal and external. I have participated in meetings with the decision-makers, mainly White males, and have often been the only

person of color and always the only woman. My participation, usually by invitation, provided me with an understanding of the lack of diversity at the executive level and its inability to expand its reach to a firm's internal and external base for an expanded market.

The United States government commissioned the Belmont Report to identify the basic ethical principles researchers should follow while conducting investigations with voluntary participants (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). As the researcher, I was responsible for following a protocol to ensure the data's accuracy and maintain participants' confidentiality (see Bromley et al., 2015). Participant and companies' names were changed to maintain confidentiality.

In all research, there is personal bias (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Personal bias is prevalent when a researcher uses a case study design to understand the underlying research questions' issues beforehand (Yin, 2018). Haven and Van Grootel (2019) posited that bias could threaten the integrity of the research. Qualitative researchers must recognize that there is a potential existence of bias and circumventing such can be difficult (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I averted bias by being cognizant of all prejudice and being open to information that contradicted my views, and I documented these findings in the study accordingly (see Yin, 2018). Conducting interviews allowed me the opportunity to collect data opposing my perspective and to achieve an in-depth understanding of the strategies obtained from individual participants (see See-to et al., 2017).

Participants

In this study, I explored strategies that AAW executives used to increase diversity with other AAW in their ranks to ensure profitability and maintain a competitive advantage. Participants provided data to me through interviews (see Yin, 2018). The participants consisted of five executive level AAW with a minimum of 10 years of experience who have successfully implemented strategies to increase diversity in their company within the District of Columbia. Each participant had been or still was an active executive within a corporation in the District of Columbia region and was selected based on business directories, networking panels, and business introductions. Researchers are responsible for explaining the participants' eligibility criteria for the study and the process of selection (Baillie, 2015). The research question is the focal point of the study to a specific population of individuals (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Therefore, as a management consultant, I maintained an ethical stance and a homogenous platform while interacting with the participants.

One crucial factor in qualitative research is the data collection method and technique used to gather participants' interview responses. Confidentiality is essential in maintaining the participants' identity and ethical compliance to ensure the researcher's integrity and participants' information and relationship. According to Halbritter et al. (2012), subscribing to video cameras and microphone usage impacts the standard human interaction with the participants. The otherwise human connection of trust garnered when physically with participants is potentially strained with the use of technology.

Establishing an affinity with the participants was critical to promoting an open and forthright communication level to garner participants' responses. Adhering to the principles of *The Belmont Report* promoted earnest, harmless, and forthcoming information from each participant.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies that AAW executives used to increase diversity with other AAW in their ranks to ensure profitability and maintain a competitive advantage. In a qualitative research method, there is a time constraint with producing measurable results to develop metrics with measurable data (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Moser and Korstjens (2017) suggested that the researcher should focus on intricacies of the collected information as opposed to the data collection process. The foundation of qualitative research is built on following a detailed and astute outline of interview questions, pure data collection, and information reporting of knowledge with minimal influence and extracting the meaning and the participants perceptions (Bansal et al., 2018, Saunders et al., 2018, & Sidaway et al., 2019). According to Fusch et al. (2018), the purpose of using a qualitative method is to establish the meaning and translation of the information obtained from the interview process; thus, the qualitative method was most appropriate for use.

I considered the quantitative and mixed methods for this study. The basis of a quantitative method is numerical data and statistical analysis that brings logic to the

relationship between variables (Gibson, 2016). The quantitative research methodology uses standardized measures and statistical analysis to identify the relationship between variables (Hammarberg et al., 2016). Therefore, the quantitative research was not applicable for this study. Mixed method is a hybrid study when the researchers collect quantitative and qualitative complementary data and counterpart analysis into a single study for data integration to tightly assimilate a response to the research question (Gibson, 2016; Taguchi 2018). This method was not applicable, as the research question was answerable using a standalone qualitative method.

Research Design

In this study, I used a single case study design. Case study research is an extensive scientific investigation into a real-life experience within the context of its environment (Ridder, 2017). According to Smith (2018), a qualitative case study is a particularistic, descriptive, and heuristic study of a bounded case system. A single case study's intricacy can answer *how* and *why* research questions in specific situations where the researcher does not control observable events (Yin, 2018). Using a case study design could promote a deeper understanding of a conglomerate of experiences (Woo et al., 2016). The purpose of this study was to explore strategies that AAW executives used to increase diversity with other AAW in their ranks to ensure profitability and maintain a competitive advantage.

I used a single case study design to explore strategies that AAW executives used to increase diversity with other AAW in their ranks to ensure profitability and maintain a

competitive advantage. Conventional alternatives for qualitative designs are phenomenological, grounded theory, and ethnographic. A phenomenological approach is appropriate if addressing individuals with similar experiences (Stainton, 2016). However, the phenomenological design was not a practical option given that my intent was to obtain an in-depth understanding of strategies leaders used to diversify ranks. A grounded theory approach is applicable for developing theories (Tavakol & Sandars, 2014), not the objective for examining strategies used by leaders to increase diversity and ensure profitability. An ethnographic approach is suitable when a researcher pursues a description and interpretation of shared patterns of the entire group's culture over a significant period (Wood & Mattson, 2019). An ethnographic approach was not appropriate as I sought to obtain data from exploring strategies AAW executives used to diversify with other AAW in their ranks for profitability and competitive advantage. Researchers use a case study design to explore present-day phenomenon when there is ambiguity with the boundaries of the phenomena (Ridder, 2017). A single case studywas appropriate to study a specific group or community (Yin, 2018). A multiple case study was not appropriate for the study as my objective was to obtain a more in-depth understanding of strategies related to diversification and profitability of one, geographically bound phenomenon.

The multiple case study design is appropriate for comparing more than one case and is more robust in designing more compelling evidence (Yin, 2018). In a multiple case study design, the researcher employs various approaches, with a positivist epistemology

due to the design to pursue challenging explanations and to contradict hypotheses (Harrison et al., 2017). For those researchers seeking to explore several adduce of the same exploration, the multiple case study is a perfect choice (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Nonetheless, I was not investigating a phenomenon nor seeking compelling commentary between cases. Therefore, the multiple case design was not appropriate for this study.

A neophyte researcher should select a design that appropriately answers the research question, acquiesces data saturation, concludes the study in a reasonable time frame with fair cost (Fusch et al., 2018). A qualitative researcher regularly uses the case study design due to the researcher's ability to focus on context and vigorous interaction (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). A single case study design was appropriate for this study (see Woo et al., 2016). As this study was an exploratory study focused on the experiences of a specific group of individuals, senior leadership in corporate America, a single case study design was the best option.

One crucial concern to researchers using a qualitative case-study is achieving trustworthiness so their study could sustain the audit of published works. However, against concerns with credibility and limitations, the case study design advances as the design of choice amid students (Smith, 2018). Intrinsically, researchers who select the case study design should address the quality concerns throughout the research process.

Shaping qualitative research quality is a researcher's ability to attain data saturation.

Data saturation is defined as the repetitiveness of reoccurring themes and patterns or an absence of new information from the data collection (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). There is no formula to help determine the appropriate sample size for qualitative research, which makes selecting the proper sample size essential to ensuring efficient data collection. An initial sample size of 12 participants was the targeted number for invites to secure a final sample size of three to five or until data saturation was sufficient, which could be the point of reoccurring themes and where responses become redundant (see Fusch & Ness, 2018.

I did not conduct this study within my organization, delineating the need for additional ethical concerns regarding internal research. However, with the current COVID-19 pandemic, the interview settings were telephonic With restrictions on social interaction, teleconferencing with the participants from their home limited their privacy.

The data collection was conducted via interviews and member checking. To achieve data saturation, I conducted phone interviews with a sampling of cross sections of the agreed participants to achieve a full range of views. Albeit from the sampling population of three to five participants, data saturation is achieved when the responses do not yield differently. Aldiabat and LeNavenec (2018) posited that triangulation via multiple data collection methods augments the broad description of the data, promoting faster data saturation. Methodological triangulation actives provided data saturation for this study.

Achieving data saturation is the pinnacle of qualitative research sampling (Saunders & Townsend, 2016). Data saturation was relative to ensure qualitative

research's trustworthiness during the collection period (Morse, 2015). As inferred by Marshall and Rossman (2016), when the researcher recognizes the same repetitive pattern and identifies that no additional data will sway the pattern, data saturation is reached. The primary data collection occurred through semis structured interviews via Zoom, WebEx, or a selection that was conducive for the participant due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Population and Sampling

The sample contained five AAW in senior executive positions in the District of Columbia regions from various federal and private industries. Based on the lack of AAW in a senior executive position within the region, there was a limited number of potential participants. The case's foundation rested on AAWs' disparity as senior leadership in the federal and private industries.

According to Moser and Korstjens (2017) and Charles et al. (2015), the process of sampling is the quest for rich data of situations, context, and participants with information of the subject of interest with a deliberateness in sampling. There were several qualitative sampling strategies for consideration: purposive sampling, criterion sampling, theoretical sampling, convenience sampling, and snowball sampling. Purposive sampling centers on the researchers' ability to select what participants potentially are most informative (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). I employed a purposeful sampling method as my study was intended for AAW in leadership positions who were limited in numbers. Purposive sampling strategies allow the researcher to identify the most informative participants (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). This process included research through

networking events, LinkedIn Premium, and professional directories. The targeted population was AAW in senior leadership position who have explored strategies to elevate to senior executive positions

The sample size for a qualitative single case study is small, as inferred by Yin (2018). However, data saturation is the most compelling aspect of qualitative data collection (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Saunders and Townsend (201) suggest a homogenous sample population could achieve data saturation with less than 12 participants. Purposive sampling techniques is intended to achieve a sample of participants sharing similar characteristics such as occupation, and gender (Saunders & Townsend, 2018). This range should provide three to five ideal participants. The single case study design consisted of three to five participants.

The primary data collection occurred through semi structured interviews via Zoom, WebEx, or a selection that is conducive for the participant due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Due to the confidentiality of participants' identity, phone interviews are most appropriate for audio recording eliminating facial recognition. The intended settings were based on the comfort level of each participant as telework is trending as a response to COVID-19 pandemic.

Ethical Research

In business and management research, human participation is indispensable to the process requiring researchers to protect their participants responsibly. In the construct of a research proposal, there was the factor of the ethical matter when humans are the data

source for the study and that ethically delicate research, including data collection, is guided with specific rules preempting ethical challenges further into the research (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Sroka et al., 2018; Gomes & Duarte, 2018). *The Belmont Report* authors encapsulate three ethical principles relevant to research with human participation: respect for individuals, beneficence, and justice (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). Due to human participation required for the research, it was essential to receive Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval before recruiting participants and safeguard participants (Henry et al., 2016). Additionally, complying with Walden University's IRB provided a guideline of government regulations, ethical standards, and institutional parameters. Upon approval from the IRB, participants received a letter of invitation and consent form outlining the study's scope and relevance with a right to withdraw without prejudice and the approval number 08-03-21 0987722.

There was a low risk to the participants in the research. There were no protected classes involved in the proposed research. The researcher did not engage in coercion to gain access to participants, and the study conducted was with full transparency.

Additionally, I acquired informed consent from all participants emphasizing their right to withdraw from the study at any time. Furthermore, all participants identity remained confidential while simultaneously allowing participants to review the transcribe notes of their interviews for content and accuracy. All data remains in a safe place for five years protecting the rights of the participants.

In this study, the researcher was responsible for identifying African American women participants. In a qualitative research, coding is represented by a word, phrase, or sentence capturing the nature of the data (Clark & Veale, 2018). Based on five participants, the coding representing African American women ranges from AAWL1-AAWL5 identifying and maintaining confidentiality. Conducting meetings were not done in the traditional manner of physical face to face due to the current COVID-19 pandemic but relying on technology presented a face value to the interview process. All data remains in a safe place for five years protecting the rights of the participants. At the end of the storage period, all electronic data will be purged from the hard drive and subsequent electronic devices. All hard copies of the data collection notes to final member checking will be cross-cut shredded and placed in a burn bag. There were no incentives offered for this study.

Data Collection Instruments

The primary data collection consisted of a comprehensive semi structured interview. In a qualitative study, interviews construct the spine of data collection. Dissimilar to a quantitative study, a qualitative study's premise correlates to exploring and justifying the research's purpose (Adhabi et al., 2017; Stewart et al., 2008). As a necessary tool, an interview method is compatible with an experimental or research paradigm (Aliyu et al., 2014).

I used semi-structured interviews to collect data. A semi structured interview is the most common type used by qualitative researchers. Like structured interviews, semi structured identifies the researcher's topics and questions without austere deference (Adhabi et al., 2017; Stuckey, 2013). A well-constructed protocol for the interview process can increase the collection process's quality and promote the study's trustworthiness (Adhabi et al., 2017; Castillo-Montoya, 2016; Kallio et al., 2020). In a qualitative study, the researcher is the primary data collection instrument (Yin, 2018).

The key to the data collection process is the alignment of the research question and the interview protocol. Castillo-Montoya (2016) suggests it is essential to develop a compelling interview protocol to obtain rich and substantive data to capture the participants' experiences using the Interview Protocol Refinement (IPR). The IPR consisted of four phases: Ensuring the alignment of the interview question to the research question; Developing an inquiry-based conversation; Obtaining feedback on interview protocols; and piloting the interview protocol. Each phase is paramount in assisting the researcher in constructing the appropriate research instrument congruent with the research's focus (Jones et al., 2014). In a semi structured interview, the researcher had the flexibility to adjust questions to drill down to a level of relevance. I completed the interview process using a standard interview protocol (Appendix B) and I communicated the protocol to the participants. The interview protocol provided an outline of the critical questions that the researcher used to explore the phenomenon.

Strategies to ensure reliability and validity of qualitative case study research included member checking and methodological triangulation (Yin, 2018). According to Vance (2015) member checking improves the reliability and validity of the collected

data. Member checking requires that the research results be sent back to the participants to validate accuracy and resonance with their experiences (Birt et al., 2016). Additionally, Birt et al. (2016) provided two additional member checking approaches. The first approach was to return the transcribed interviews to the participants for accuracy. The second approach was to use synthesized member checking; sending both the raw data and the interpreted data for the interviewee to review. Synthesized member checking is used in semi structured and in-depth interviewed to improve the credibility of results.

As asserted by Birt et al., (2016), I made the interview transcripts and my interpretations available to the participants to review and confirm, thereby enhancing my analysis validity. Furthermore, I used synthesized member checking, sending the raw my interpretations of the interview to the participants to validate and then used the results of this process as a basis for follow up discussions to verify participants experience symmetry (Harvey, 2015). Upon completion of member checking, the participants verified the accuracy of the interpretations of the responses.

As the primary researcher for this single case study, I had diverse responsibilities to ensure a quality, comprehensible and accurate delineation of the phenomenon regarding strategies implored by African American women to obtain senior leadership positions. According to Fusch and Ness (2015), the qualitative study researchers are the primary data collection instrument. The researcher's fundamental responsibility in the data collection instrument was the collection and analysis of information gathered from the participants and conducting triangulation of supplemental documentation.

Triangulation enables data comparison with those from other sources, such as published reports (Hussein, 2015). During the semi-structured interviews, the researcher observed a participant's values, attitudes, and opinions. Researchers can learn a significant amount of information about a topic by applying open-ended interview questions (Kallio et al., 2016). Face-to-face interviews with open-ended interview questions are the most common way to collect information from participants. Additionally, face-face interviews allowed the researcher to deep dive into the participants' responses by asking follow-up questions. Overall, semi-structured interviews with open-ended questions facilitate consistency during data collection. I used semi-structured interviews for this study.

An additional data collection method involves reviewing current and archived documents. For this study, the document review included reviewing past studies and peer reviews related to African American women in senior leadership positions and strategies used by African American women to increase diversity for competitiveness. Further, I conducted an in-depth review and analysis of supportive policy documents provided to me by the participants. A thorough analysis of the collected interview data and documentation obtained from the participants will increase the validity and reliability of this study and increases the researcher's knowledge and provides helpful insights into the study (Yin, 2018).

Researchers should enhance the reliability and validity of the study using various methods. Besides the interview protocol, an audio recording of the interview ensures the researchers can accurately articulate the participants' responses during transcription. For

the interview, I presented the same questions and try to restrict the timeframe to the same for each participant. I used all the methods at hand to address the reliability and validity of this study.

Data Collection Technique

A qualitative researcher must organize collected data to support the analysis, protect the participants, auditing the data, and overall case organization. Yin (2018) echoed the criticalness in creating and maintaining an organized case study database. The database content included formal and raw data from the interview recording and sidebar notes from observation with a definitive separation between the raw data and the reports to further analysis such as triangulation (Smith, 2018). Thus, the requirement to further analyze by creating an electronic database as an audit trail of the organized data.

The researcher should provide time, date, location, participants, and other relevant qualifiers as identifiers (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The database's significance was to identify a clear correlation of evidence to the discovery of the findings. I captured the oddity of the data through journaling to ensure accurate capture. The database has labels and cataloged recordings with African American Woman Leader 1 (AAWL) coding schematic.

Data collection commenced with obtaining the Internal Review Board (IRB) of Walden University's approval for the proposal. The perspective participants received an introductory level providing an in-depth overview of the research's objective; the IRB approved informed consent form (see Appendix A) the approval number, and the

timelines of interviews and questions. I adhered to the participants' schedule of convenience to secure participation and goodwill (Yin, 2018). I archived all audio calls to ensure confidentiality, offered my contact information and availability to respond to possible questions, and address all concerns. The collected data was instrumental in creating a holistic picture of the business problem and potential strategies.

Paramount in the study was confidentiality and protection of the participants and the data to remain ethically sound. The researcher's responsibility was to protect the rights and anonymity of the participants and data (Marshall & Rossman, 2016: Twining et al., 2017). Researchers should adopt formal and informal strategies to protect their participants. As stated in the Ethical Research section, participant identities will consist of codes (i.e., AAWL-1 – AAWL-5) with companies coded as "case organizations".

A variety of qualitative data techniques exist; however, researchers often select interviews to explore participants' perspectives and expertise (Nesensohn et al., 2016). Fusch et al. (2018) postulated that qualitative researchers collect data through various means, but interviews are a standard data collection method in the case study model. Semi structured interviews comprised of open-ended questions were the primary data collection vehicle in the proposed study. An advantage to face-to-face interviews is the personal interaction researchers afforded to study participants (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). However, the expenditure required to travel may be cost prohibitive (Yin, 2018). Due to the COVID-19 pandemic interviews were restricted to audio only. In-person interviews may pose health risks to all participating parties.

A disadvantage of interviewing as the primary data collection method is that researcher bias or misrepresentation may affect data quality (Feiler & Powell, 2015). Sohn et al. (2017) offers that bias occurs when a researcher, despite of proof to the contrary, chooses evidence supporting the researchers' underlying beliefs. Bias free research is impossible due to the researcher's interpretation of open-ended questions used in quantitative studies (Tavory, 2020). Researchers must avoid substituting prior knowledge or their perceptions of the topic during data collection or analysis. Tavory (2020) focus on how even a researcher's verbal presentation of findings can create a bias if their cadence, inflections, and overall tone provide unfounded support for their study. I sought participants with whom I have no personal or professional relationship. To mitigate bias, I did not interact with the prospective participants before conducting the proposed study.

Data Organization Technique

Data collection is intrinsically essential to the researcher in enforcing all aspects of the research study, such as the organization of data, data assessment, and the participants' information. Included in the data are the interview transcriptions and secondary documents provided by the participants. I organized related information in Excel project tracker file and Microsoft data file. Utilizing a coding system such as AAW1, AAW2, and AAW3 will protect the broad discretion and privacy of the participants' information. Researchers must articulate data gathering and data to guarantee the case study's reliability and validity (Morse, 2015). The researcher must

maintain the organization of data and have accessibility (Sutton & Austin, 2015). NVivo software enables the researcher to store data for coding purposes. I secured all data labeled and accessible to me. As the researcher, I kept hard copies of documents in a locked file cabinet. I housed electronic files, including recordings of interviews, transcripts, and all notes on an encrypted passworded hard drive. Five years from the conclusion of this study, I will cross-cut shred all documents and place them in a burn bag for disposal and purge all electronic data and subsequent material from the encrypted hard drive.

Data Analysis

A qualitative data analysis encompasses identifying themes, comparisons, replication, inductive and deductive reasoning, and interpretation of experiences to construct meaning. The strength of the qualitative research articulates and associates meaning to data for a specified purpose (Reissman, 1999).

During the qualitative research process, the researcher collects an immense amount of data for analysis (Anderson, 2010). The data is protected to prevent modification, disclosure, access, and uphold the confidentiality, integrity, and availability required to support its claims (Harris & Maymi, 2016). The lack of credibility of the data analysis process questions the researcher internal validity, and the results are debatable (Amankwaa, 2016).

The first step in the data analysis process is coding associating a description, categorizing, and interpreting it (Weston et al., 2001). For the study, each interview was

recorded and transcribed and submitted to the participant for accuracy, and then coded to correlate to recurring themes (Hancock & Algozzine, 2006). Immersing into the data was critical for accuracy and coding to provide relevancy to the intended audience. Primary coding for the study was extracted from the literature review and ultimately from the data during the analysis process.

NVivo11 software is a resource that aids the researcher with data management throughout the qualitative data analysis process (Zamawe, 2015). According to Fossey et al. (2002), the researchers' ability to frame and decipher the data is imperative to the data analysis process. Throughout the analysis process, the researcher can compartmentalize the data segments and uncover clusters (Lofland, 1995). The clustering approach reduces data to articulate the phenomenon under study (Miles & Huberman, 1994). Clustering identifies data elements with similar meanings. The meaning of clustering refers to the process of sorting and classifying data. When identifying data, the researcher audits the data to determine clusters of data.

Each participant's transcript underwent a review for accuracy by comparing it to the audio recording. The NVivo11 software has a component for assigning a number to each recording, consisting of no more than 60 minutes. Notes taken were transcribed and correlates to the audio. All data was presented in written form, identifying the common themes revealed from African American women leaders' experiences in the District, Maryland, and Virginia (DMV) related to the strategies they employed to ascend to senior leadership.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability and validity are essential components that scholars adopt to identify the qualitative study's condition and are considered a necessary part of this research (Saunders et al., 2016). Noble and Smith (2015) posited that reliability and validity could augment a qualitative study's credibility. The researcher developed strategies to secure reliability and validity. Reliability invokes replication and consistency, where validity attributes how appropriate the measure use is the veracity of the analysis of results; and the degree of generalizing the findings (Saunders et al., 2016).

Reliability

Some key strategies to achieve research reliability consisted of (a) member checking, (b) triangulation, (c) data saturation or thick description, (d), prolong engagement, (e) reducing research bias, (f) peer debriefing, and (g) external audits. In this research study, I adopted member checking, methodological triangulation, participant prolong engagement, and clarifying researcher bias to attend reliability as suggested by Morse (2015). Member checking was validated by sharing my transcription of the interview with the participants for accuracy of their input and identifying accuracy of their contributions depicting their strategies of implore in obtaining senior leadership and the competitive advantage, thus strengthening the credibility of the results of this study (Birt et al., 2016).

Notably, Birt et al. (2016) recommended using synthesized member checking to enhance reliability. Pursuing Birt et al., (2016) recommendations, I used the synthesized

result of member check with the first two participants as metrics to restructure with subsequent participants' interviews. Additionally, I used methodological triangulation by comparing the data collected from the semi structured in-depth interviews with those from sources through literature reviews and policy documents provided by the participants (Fusch et al., 2018). Zamawe (2015) infers using software such as NVivo, could promote more reliability and accuracy with the data results. Additionally, NVivo enabled transparency data analysis to champion creditability, dependability, and transferability authenticity of the research; standardized interview protocol reducing the chance for bias or errors in the data analysis (Sandelowski, 2015). I used the standardized interview protocol (Appendix C) to establish a pattern for all participants to follow for consistency during the interview.

Validity

Qualitative research's validity is access using credibility, dependability, transferability, and authenticity (Elo et al., 2014). Strategies used to achieve validity in this study include member checking, methodological triangulation, prolonged engagement with participations, and clarifying the researcher's bias (Morse 2015; Yin, 2018). The use of methodological triangulation elevates confidence and strengthens study validity through rich data and unbiased results (Joslin & Muller, 2016). Data saturation is the combination of thick and rich data that reaches the pinnacle of not producing new data (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Data saturation is a critical strategy for enhancing the qualitative study's validity (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Credibility attainment occurs by

safeguarding that the analysis results reflect the participants' live experiences (Birt et al., 2016). Credibility enhancement results from establishing the relationship between the original participant's data collected and the researcher's interpretation (Munn et al., 2014), achieving credibility through research validity and qualitative research reliability (Nobel & Smith, 2015).

There is an assertion that reliability and validity are concepts equally applicable to a qualitative quest (Spiers et al., 2018). Dependability and conformability as related to validity is a term related to reliability and validity (LeCompte & Goetz, 1982). Morse et al. (2002) argues that reliability and validity have subtly been replaced by criteria depicting evaluation standards of significance and relevance in a qualitative inquiry. There is a long-established link between dependability and confirmability evidenced by data from similar studies remain consistent over time (Anney, 2014). According to Munn et al. (2014) confirmability refers to data that is impartial and correct. Hussein (2015) asserted that the qualitative study's confirmability demonstrates that research data truly represents participant voices and is free from the researcher's personal bias. Spiers et al. (2018) suggest validity relates to data appropriateness, which allows for an accurate account of participants' experiences beyond the immediate context. Lincoln and Guba (1985) espoused that "conformability is in preference to objectivity" and that it creates a level of neutrality to the finding shaped by the narrative of the respondents unbiased, motivation, or interest of the researcher. Methodological triangulation is used by qualitative researchers to attain rich, robust, and a well-developed comprehensive data

collection. Combining methodological triangulation and qualitative analysis software can aid in confirmability, transferability, reliability, and validity of data (Hussein, 2015). I intended to use Cluvio, Nvivo, or SAP Analytics Cloud software to establish confirmability by running the data and understanding the frequency of words or themes, and establishing relationships with the research questions, literature, and the conceptual framework of the study. Marshall and Rossman (2016) pointed out that collected data from a single case study may be tightly bound to the specific study and impossible to transfer to another study. Qualitative researchers enhance transferability by engaging in sharing their interpretations of collected data with the participants (Yin, 2018) and ensure data saturation is achieved (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Readers of qualitative research determine transferability based on their decision to accept the study's research process and results; the applicability of previous research falls within future researchers' purview (Hess et al., 2014; Marshall & Rossman, 2016).

Transition and Summary

In section 1, I described the foundation of the study, identified the research topic and specific business problem that a lack of diversity in leadership could impact profitability and diminish an organization's competitive advantage. The discussion continued in section 2, with details regarding the study's approach, which involved reiterating the study's purpose, my role as the researcher, identifying and sharing criteria used to identify research participants, the methodology, and the participants' contribution. Section 2 wraps up by expounding on the data collection, data analysis, and procedures to

secure the study's reliability and validity. Section 3 commences with a detailed analysis of the study results and how the results could influence social change. Finally, I will discuss how the results may apply and make recommendations for future studies.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies that AAW executives use to increase diversity with other AAW in their ranks to ensure profitability and maintain competitive advantage. While women have collectively broken the glass ceiling, AAW have struggled with achieving senior executive elevation. Roberts et al. (2018) inferred that there are only 32 women leaders in Fortune 500 companies, and there are only three African American men. According to Beal (2008), African Americans remain underrepresented in corporate America. The sample size for this study included five African American women executives with 10 years of experience in the District of Columbia who have successfully implemented strategies to increase diversity within their company. Each participant articulated their answers to seven open-ended and follow-up interview questions specific to strategies to elevate other AAW.

I conducted detailed phone interviews with five AAW executives who met the eligibility requirements to understand the phenomenon deeply. I used multiple data collection methods to analyze participants' responses, including company policies and phone audio recordings. I engaged in member checking to ensure I accurately captured the participants' responses. I completed methodological triangulation by conducting a careful review of the submitted supporting documents and the review of the participants' data. Additional data were extracted for review through literature related to the research topic to achieve methodological triangulation. I performed an in-depth analysis of the

participants' information and supporting documentation, identified three major themes, and correlated the themes to the conceptual framework of the study, Hambrick's (1994) CDT. I achieved data saturation based on the duplication of the participant's responses to the seven open-ended interview questions.

Presentation of the Findings

In this qualitative single case study, I explored the strategies engaging AAW leaders use to increase the diversity of other AAW in their ranks to ensure profitability and maintain competitive advantage. The overarching research question for this study was as follows: What strategies do AAW executives use to increase diversity with other AAW in their ranks to ensure profitability and maintain competitive advantage? To acquire a deeper understanding of the study's participants' strategies used to increase diversity, I used Yin's (2018) 5-step process, which included (a) compiling, (b) disassembling, (c) reassembling, (d) interpreting, and (e) summarizing data. I selected CDT as the conceptual framework for this study. CDT was instrumental in achieving a deeper understanding and appreciation of the significance of the positive outcomes in the workgroup by minimizing debiasing decision making.

Additionally, the participants were amenable to clarifying all follow-up questions and furnished public company documents. Each participant articulated the strategies used to diversify the ranks with AAW successfully. The three primary themes that emerged from an analysis of the interview data and participants' business documents included (a)

mentoring, (b) strategic planning for diversity growth, and (c) networking and resource sharing.

As advanced by Miller et al. (1998), CDT is an influence on indirectly linking diversity and profitability, and organizations considering diversifying could prosper from CDT to implement a distinctive workforce. The conversation around diversity is a type of racial discourse (Berrey, 2015) and often disregards the structural inequalities that marginalize groups. The five participants, CEOs of consulting businesses with prior experience in corporate America or the federal sector as senior executives, each specializing in different industries, met the criteria of having worked in the District of Columbia as a senior executive with a minimum of 5 years of experience and were AAW. To maintain the anonymity of the participants' identities, I assigned pseudonyms, AAWL1, AAWL2, AAWL3, AAWL4, and AAWL5, where AAWL represented AAW leaders, and the numeric value indicated the order of the participants' interviews. I followed Yin's 5-step process to analyze the participants' responses to the seven openended and follow-up questions and review supporting public policy documents. Submitted documentation consisted of employee handbooks, mission statements, human resource recruitment policies, and strategic plans that supported the policies of diversity and the platform of strategies to ensure diversity within the executive levels.

Emergent Theme 1: Mentoring

The first theme I identified was mentoring. Each study participant profoundly expressed the significance of mentoring AAW to increase diversity within the ranks. As

defined by Clayton et al. (2013), mentoring identifies how the protégé assists individuals in developing their professional path. Further expounded by Leck and Orser (2013), mentoring is an interpersonal relationship developed and cultivated between a senior, more experienced employee (mentor) and a junior, less experienced employee (mentee). Zeller (2003) inferred that the lack of sufficient representation of women and minorities, specifically AAW, impedes the ability to reflect the diversity of the people it serves. AAW would benefit from mentors who share their similarities of lived experiences that could influence the mentoring relationship and exchange knowledge (see Mondisa & Adama, 2020).

Mentoring is considered an essential aspect of facilitating promotion to senior management positions. Mentoring relationships are typically formed through interpersonal exchanges between mentor and mentee, substantially making an impact over time (Eby et al., 2013; Montgomery, 2017). AAWL3 and AAWL4 articulated the same sentiments, relating the professional growth of AAW to higher management to successful mentoring. AAWL1 expressed that the lack of mentoring during her rise was a push to seek support outside the workplace. AAWL2 stressed the importance of having a core group of women for support, pushing to keep moving, commiserate with, and share strategies and visibility. According to AAWL5, "We as African American women must seek other African American women even if it is outside of the company outside support group or organization, where we can digress our issues and obstacles to be each other's, support group." AAWL2's elevation was etched in determination to succeed in a

predominantly homogenous environment and implementing a mentorship program to assist with future elevation. According to AAWL2, "It is important for African American women to identify with a network of like sisters to widen the level of support and fill each other's tool bag with resources to elevate both professionally and personally."

All participants stated that their success in senior executive positions would have been fluid if there had been a mentoring program. One key factor agreed on by the participants is that in their experience as mentors, there is a responsibility to build confidence, credibility, competence, and visibility. Montgomery (2017) posited that mentoring is a learning partnership, a two-way learning process with an interconnected identity. A mentor's access, influence, and ability to provide career guidance and visibility can be crucial to an AAW's professional trajectory. Mentorship is a critical and historical technique that prepares AAW to successfully influence and mold their readiness to step into senior leadership roles successfully.

All participants said that achieving senior executive status was a mindset of challenges to rise above the predominately White male occupied positions. Navigating double bias of race and gender continues to be a significant barrier to AAW pursuing senior executive positions, not excluding the isolation and the absence of similar ethnic-gender support systems. Additionally, AAWL4 espoused that AAW also had to overcome stereotypes depicting them as incompetent or with limited intelligence.

AAWL3 said that AAW are resilient and driven, working harder than most while compromising their overall psychosocial well-being. AAWL5 expressed that society's

perception of AAW, and their professional contribution is a disconnect that creates a cognitive dissonance facilitating a struggle as AAW navigate walking in their truth and negating societal expectations. AAWL5 further posited that in a world of rising AAW, mentoring is a required infrastructure for cultivating unique experiences by the intersection of race and gender, contributing to any business. AAWL stated,

"Mentorship is a reciprocal relationship nurturing and inspiring both the mentor and mentee. We need more African American women mentors to create a core sisterhood like the Divine Nine to uplift and support each other. I would not have achieved organizational success had I not had the support of my sisterhood of supporters. Having that level of camaraderie is priceless. "

AAWL4 inferred.

"My lack of support when I travel upward on the executive ladder pushed me to hone my knowledge and experiences to broaden networking with and for my company and others like me. I continuously work at creating opportunities for us through mentoring individually and collectively."

Relation to the Literature

Theme 1 depicts mentoring, which is a trusted leadership relationship between mentor and mentee. Mentoring in the workplace is a relational process in which a more experienced individual, preferably a senior, guides mentees by offering three distinct types of support: psychosocial support, career-related support, and role modeling formulated to assist in leadership development and career advancement (Bova, 2000;

Dunbar & Kinnersley 2011). Mentoring is to assist the mentee directionally with problems and career paths. Patton and Haynes (2014) posited that mentoring is a means to building self-esteem and confidence. As suggested by all participants, AAWL1, AAWL2, AAWL3, AAWL4, and AAWL5, mentoring increases the ability to connect to networks and a plethora of resources and provides a sense of visibility elevation of one's self-esteem.

Dworkin et al. (2012) inferred that mentoring woman is known to increase a women's marketability and increase the likelihood of acquiring senior leadership positions. Participants in my study noted a direct correlation between job performance and employee elevation, specifically with AAW, when mentored. However, Johnson (2017 suggested that women have limited mentorship opportunities due to gender inequalities in the workplace. According to Pittman et al (2020, AAW feel pressured to be symbolic role models, categorized as part of the double jeopardy rule, unlike White women. AAW have been ineffective with cultivating mentorship because of the double jeopardy and gender bias. All participants in my study further posited that AAW are invisible and are therefore invisible for potential elevation. Jones et al. (2013) asserted that AAW often experience invisibility, social exclusion, and minimum at best mentoring. Mentoring as presented by each AAWL participant was seen as a necessary vehicle to engage women akin towards elevation successfully. All the participants expressed that mentoring educates AAW with information and practices to overcome career obstacles, understand organizational politics and resources, and provide resources and networking. Dominquez and Hager (2019) suggested that mentoring programs increase personnel retention, reduce organizational attrition, increase career satisfaction, accelerate leadership development, and minimize the learning curve in the competitive markets. When mentoring includes the overall development of employees, both the mentor and the mentee receive positive outcomes from the relationship with mutual benefits. Craig et al. (2012) further reiterated the impact of mentoring by stating that the vital link between career mentoring and positive employee outcomes includes extrinsic success like increased compensation, promotion eligibility, and overall career mobility. Researchers have noted that the "glass ceiling" concept denoting obstacles to career advancement is often considered the "concrete wall" for AAW (Nkomo & Bell, 2011). Bell and Nkomo (2011) coined the term concrete wall as a pernicious phenomenon where the top jobs are invisible for AAW to obtain due to the lack of awareness or the inability to see promotion opportunities.

Mentoring relationships are systemically designed to provide gratifying and dynamic experiences but thrive based on both parties' commitment to the relationship and goals. Tichy (2012) posited that mentoring assists organizations that require a solid mentoring foundation to build and retain upcoming leaders and develop a diversified workforce. Choosing to prepare and coach other aspiring AAW leaders for organizational leadership success ensures that aspiring AAW leaders are ready for the senior leadership workforce. According to Edwards and Turnbull (2012), developing mentoring relationships can influence an organization while benefitting the mentee. Cayleff et al.

(2011) further suggested that mentoring programs are a means to cultivate self-esteem and self-actualization by providing individuals to strengthen their skills and develop a healthy identity. In qualitative research, Bower (2008) conducted a study with 480 female mentors, articulating identifiable changes experienced in the organizational culture. The outcome of content analysis showcased those observational changes, including increased leadership opportunities, productive teamwork, and increased employee morale. AAW leaders have used mentorship to prepare, influence, and encourage other AAW who have leadership potential to rise (Mullings, 2014).

There is a lack of literature articulating the availability of mentorship support, especially in government policy and implementation. There is even less efficacy on mentorship regarding AAW in business. However, Williams (2011) revealed that out of 1,000 women in the United States, 82% concurred that having a mentor was essential to their career trajectory. One of five participants never had a mentor due to their inability to find appropriate matches. In addition, for AAW, mentoring was absent in the early part of the participants' career journey, indicating that double bias played a role in the type of mentorship once received.

Relation to the Conceptual Framework

Hambrick (1994) conceptualized that the CDT identifies the differences in the preferences and beliefs of decision makers regarding strategic goals based on diversity as aesthetics such as demographics and gender (as cited in Meissner & Wolf, 2017; Mohammed & Ringseis, 2001). To that extent, as suggested by Miller et al. (1998),

cognitive diversity influences a link between diversity and profitability. Organizations seeking a diversified workforce understand the significance of having a cadre of belief differences and mentoring as the tool to achieve diversity at the senior executive levels, thus minimizing, if not eliminating, racial and gender discourse to appeal to competitive marketing.

Globalization and the community impact from immigration have transformed the cultural makeup of society and subsequentially in business. The norm of companies was homogenous; now, they comprise a diversified mix of race, religion, and ethnicity. Early and Ang (2018) asserted that companies that have expanded cultural diversity have become multicultural creating cross cultural competency and mitigating stereotypes and bias. Offered as an intricate tool, mentoring massages a culturally diverse organization in knowledge transfer and cultural intelligence to reach a broader body of professionals and networks. Early and Ang suggested that germinal mentoring dyads differ significantly in cultural backgrounds to ensure cultural reciprocal mentoring to initiate mutual knowledge transfer capitalizing on the pool of cognitive diversity. Lastly, a mentoring relationship can harness other variables of diversity are a mentoring relationship.

Emergent Theme 2: Strategic Planning, Diversity, and Competitive Advantage

Theme 2, strategic planning is essential for business and diversity for company growth. According to AAWL1, AAWL2, and AWWL 4, the absence of diversity within a strategic plan is an element of failure crippling a company's ability to ensure profitability and maintain competitive advantage. AAWL1 infers that a company's growth is relative

to the market it attracts, and the faces used to lure the attraction. The complexity of diversity and business is the unwillingness of executive leadership to construct a foundation of diversity, specifically for African American women's elevation. AAWL3 articulated that strategic plan which encompasses expanding diversity are placeholders appearing to support diversity but operate as obstacles. The unintended obstacles identify qualified personnel with a minimum of three years in experience as a senior manager, typically diminishing minority candidates eliminating minority candidates, specifically African American women.

All five study participants expressed a firm conviction in preplanning and long-term preparation for their business as a strategy to increase the chances of success. *Strategic planning* is an evolving process that changes as the business requirement changes in conjunction with the environment. Kwon and Yang (2016) identified areas such as neglecting to develop business strategies, lack of resources, and bad leadership experiences, resulting in business failure. AAWL5 asserted that in her experience, diversity is an element not included in strategic planning. However, according to all the study participants, an effective strategy must include diversity, specifically targeting AAW to ascend to senior leadership, impacting a broader demographic. The business of the participants spans to markets, reaching a cadre of stakeholders from various ethnicity. Expressed by each study participant, companies need to have faces like those of the clientele market they are attracting for competitive advantage.

Pickens (2017) opined that a business must constantly define and validate the market opportunity, offerings, business model, go-to-market strategy to deliver the services and products offered to the market, providing profitability and sustainability. Formulating strategies for the business goals and identifying the business's capabilities and the company requires initiating strategies to remain competitive. All participants expounded on the importance of strategic planning as a constant mind mapping of internal and external factors to mitigate loss and what is not working and implement strategies to increase profitability. In their cases, this includes the elevation of AAW for a diversified workforce.

Relation to the Literature

Cultural diversity is the culmination of a mix of individuals. In the existing literature, cultural diversity theorizes as a tradeoff of strategic tasks and creative problemsolving. Corritore et al. (2018) assert that diversity emerges as cultural differences between individuals within the literature review. On the other hand, diversity contrasts an individual's element that parses into interpersonal and intrapersonal forms. According to Barth (2018), cultural diversity is an instrument for business sustainability and competitive advantage. Hernandez (2014) infers that recruitment diversity is a business and social necessity that can garner unexpected benefits by embracing generational, gender, socioeconomic differences, and cultural perspective.

Larkin et al. (2020) posited that researchers have identified that homogenous boards contributed to company failure and poor governance. Furthermore, a board with a

closed mindset hinders solving a corporate problem when the board lack diversification (Burgess & Tharenou, 2002: Larkin et al. 2020). According to Arfken (2004), a diverse board projects an increase in moral and ethical compass in decision making. Furthermore, Larkin (2020) suggested that studies show that diversity restricts myopic decision-making while increasing positive and innovative ideas, improved problem solving, and strategic planning.

Galbreath (2018) presented a case study on diversity on the board of directors, financial performance, and the direct connection. The conformity of evidence of the study correlated to women on boards of directors has a positive financial impact with negative results. Women serving on a board correlate to corporate social responsibility (CSR), promoting market competitiveness, and intensifying corporate acquisition promoting competitive advantage (Boulouta, 2013; Harjoto et al. 2015; and Jain & Jamali, 2016). Turban et al. (2019) suggested that comparative studies show gendered diversity drives improved financial performance by projecting an attractive work environment for talent acquisition. The conjecture of diversity and financial performance correlation is a complex context of dependency on industry norms for gender inclusion (Wu & Zhang, 2019).

As the nation becomes culturally diverse, companies need to develop strategic plans to meet the melting pot of the competitive marketplace. As a result, organizations realize the need to develop a workforce that represents and responds to the diverse customer base through innovation. Strategic planning for diversity relies on innovation

capability. Thus, executive management influences the strategic plan. There are two considerations for strategic plans 1.) diversity within the resources within the control of the executive team to encourage or discourage; and 2) an increase in diversified workplaces (Kanchanabha & Badir, 2020). According to Ruona and Gibson (2004), human capital is an essential component of the competitive advantage supported by the employees' innate skills that provide value as a source of an organization's competitive advantage.

According to Helton and Soubik (2004), strategic workforce planning aligns an organization's human capital with its business direction. Therefore, using Porter's Force analysis of the environment encompassing driving forces, assessing their impact on the industry, and determining necessary to mitigate negative impact. This phenomenon can force the repositioning of companies to compete with a strategic workforce plan. Richard and Johnson (2001) suggest that companies should utilize a mix of human capital, adding value to the organization to create a sustainable competitive advantage. Richard (2000) posited that cultural diversity adds value and contributes to the competitive advantage of organizations.

Relation to the Conceptual Framework

The cognitive diversity perspective in strategy ascribes casual importance to structure and processes of cognition in the means of strategy and the competitive advantage. According to Narayanan et al. (2011), cognition highlights how cognitive structures and processes generate business definitions and corporate and business

strategies, leading to significant strategic initiatives; thus, developing strategic change and implementation. As defined in the conceptual framework, cognitive diversity theory identifies the differences in the preferences and beliefs of decision-makers regarding strategic goals and the perception of strategic decisions (Meissner & Wulf, 2017: Mohammed & Ringseis, 2001). Enhancing an organizational innovation capability is a strategic issue influenced by the top management team (TMT). With an intentional focus on diversity, TMT's have the flexibility or resources to encourage or discourage diversity precisely due to an increase in diversified workplaces (Kanchanabha & Badir, 2020).

In senior executive management, cognitive diversity is their variation of beliefs of a cause-and-effect relationship and the variation in preferences relating to organizations' various strategic goals. Kanchanabha and Badir (2020) posited that cognitive diversity has positively impacted team performance, specifically in the infant strategic planning stage. As related to strategic decision making, cognitive diversity is inviting in the context that decisions are vague, complex, and at times laden with uncertainty. A diversified team could lend to multiple perspectives, engender well-thought-out alternatives, and ultimately better decision making, leading to a competitive advantage. A cohesive team's positive impact is the degree of homogeneity in salient attributes across team members to perform positively (Van Knippenberg & Schippers, 2007; Van Bratten, 1991). Furthermore, the development of cohesiveness requires a mix of demographic and cultural variance to enhance social attraction among members (Braaten, 1991; Lott & Lott, 1965).

Emergent Theme 3 Barriers

All five study participants echoed the lack of networking and resources offered to African American women to assist their career paths are significant barriers for career elevation. Furthered stated by each that racism is a primary barrier to executive opportunities in a homogenous environment. Additionally, AAWL1, AAWL4, and AAWL5 conjectured that AAWs are marginalized in the workforces, making them invisible, stifling them as valued contributors. Lewis and Neville (2015) reiterated that achieving marginalization is through feelings of invisibility. Therefore, diminishing one's ability to contribute substantially based on gender and race. The invisibility of African American women emerged with all five participants. AAWL 4 articulated that AAW is progressing and present in senior leadership positions without continuous obstacles. As AAWL4 stated, "Although we have a seat at the table, we are usually one in a sea of white males. The irony, although we are visible, we remain invisible. Our voices drowned by the majority sitting at the table."

Beckwith et al. (2016) expressed a dearth of African American women in executive positions compared to their male counterparts and Caucasian women.

Divergent from AAWL4's belief, 4 participants posited that while women have elevated senior executive positions, African American women remain absent from such positions.

Summarized by Sesko and Biernat (2010), African American women are less visible in leadership positions in the workplace than other groups. According to Barnes (2017), those African American women who hold leadership positions are more visible since few

exist. In a recent study conducted by Smith et al. (2018), African American women executives interviewed revealed that while they were physically visible, they felt cognitively invisible. Meaning their underrepresentation in leadership was evident in the workplace.

AAWL5 passionately articulated the lack of accessible human networks, training, and resources has hindered African American women from adequately preparing for career elevation. AAWL5 suggested, "We have reached out to other organizations, usually outside of the workplace, to seek support and resources to elevate to the next level. More importantly, we as African American women who have arrived need to extend the reach-back and pull others up the ladder as we climb." AWWL1 further expounded that when resources on all levels are limited, African American women are often left stagnant due to the lack of preparation and tools to elevate. As suggested by AAWL1, "When resources are not easily available to us, we become complacent in the job and discouraged from hitting a brick wall. We must create a network of resources to elevate each other in every facet of our lives."

The inability to access professional networks prevents African American women from capitalizing on resources to prepare for career elevation. Additionally, executive management's tunnel vision restricts a broader view of potential candidates for elevation; thus, maintaining a homogenous executive team. AAWL2 expressed that the lack of "PR Managers," a resource needed to groom African American women to prepare them for an

executive role, equipping them with the required persona, is absent in its human resource infrastructure. We need guidance on expectations."

AAWL4 inferred that she went outside of the confines of the job to seek support and resources during her journey. Because of her journey, it was a priority to include elevation tools and resources in the strategic plan, encompassing strategic growth for African American women. AAWL3 and AAWL5 expounded on the great lengths of the intangibleness of the glass ceiling and the chains African American women have anchored to the concrete wall. The glass ceiling is the invisible barrier African American women faces, preventing career advancement (Chisholm-Burns et al., 2017). At the same time, the concrete wall is unique to African American women specifically (Beckwith et al., 2016).

Relation to the Literature

Barriers to leadership opportunities are a global phenomenon, where women, compared to men, remain disproportionately concentrated in lower-level and lower authoritative leadership positions (Northouse, 2019). These barriers, although perceived as being against women, are primarily against African American women executives. One such barrier, the glass ceiling, limits the success of female and minority executives.

According to Cotter et al. (2012), There are four specific criteria measurement that must be present for the glass ceiling effect:

 The inequality representing gender or racial difference that is not explained by other job-related characteristics of the employee

- 2. The inequality of the glass ceiling is represented by gender or racial difference that is greater at higher levels of an outcome other than at a lower level of an outcome.
- 3. The inequality of the glass ceiling is represented as gender or racial inequality in the chances of advancement into higher levels, not merely the proportions of gender or race currently at those higher levels.
- 4. The inequality of the glass ceiling represents a gender or racial inequality that increases throughout a career (pp.657-661).

The glass ceiling continues to prevent women from elevating to their highest potential despite anti-glass legislation, litigation and social movements, and other support mechanisms.

In addition to the glass ceiling identified as a significant factor to women of color ascension to executive positions, the concrete wall is an identifier unique to African American women's inability to penetrate barriers; constituting a career-limiting factor affecting not only the ability to elevate in an organization but the ability to coexist. In addition, the concrete wall, this phenomenon is sometimes referred to as a "black ceiling" (Sepand, 2015) or "concrete ceiling" (Catalyst, 1999). A comparative discussion of the concrete wall versus the glass ceiling revealed that the latter is an obstacle that is almost unbreakable and adds another level of complexity to elevation (Catalyst, 2004b).

Accordingly, in a Catalyst survey, *Advancing African American Women in the*

Workforce: What Managers Need to Know, the unique crucible faced by this demographic group reiterated.

Even though African American women represent a crucial growing source of talent, they currently represent only 1% of corporate officers in Fortune 500 companies. They experience a double outsider status – unlike White women or African American men – African American women report exclusion from informal networks and conflict relationships with Caucasian women among the challenges they face (Brown, 2004, p. 46).

African American women are subject to double jeopardy biases, race, and gender. For African American women race and gender are inseparable, meaning experiencing race and gender discriminations go together (Davis, 2012, Davis & Maldonado, 2015). However, African American women placed in executive positions are often alone in their race and gender, thus isolated in their role with no peers. This alone impacts obtaining influential mentors and sponsorships were typically, women whom women mentor (Sahai, 2015).

The typical networks, such as the "good old boy" (Vasiliou & Adams, 2018 pp 62-64), continue to exclude women from the circle of power within the business realm (Kanter, 1977). Women perceive, as articulated with all the study participants, that existing barriers prevent them from obtaining mentors to provide psychological and social support and career development and resources and the parsimony for elevation (Kong et al., 2016; Guynn, 2017). In response to the exclusion of accessible networks,

women have formed their networks (Knapp, 1986). This statement aligns with the actions inferred by all the study participants.

Relation to the Conceptual Framework

Constructing a diversified work environment requires eliminating barriers for African American women to elevate to senior leadership positions. Von Bergen et al. (2005) assert that diversity is economically beneficial to top managers and employees. The perception of diversity is positively related to perceived performance benefits of organizations (Kundu & Mor, 2017) and evidence on companies with workplace diversity policies being likely to perform better than those without such policies (Hossain et al. 2020).

Elevating a diverse workforce allows companies to blend the characteristic of various individuals in distinctive ways. Thus, creating a unique combination of human resources (Wong & Karia, 2010) creates capabilities to take advantage of specific market opportunities or eliminate potential competitive threats (Barney, 1991, 2001; Hitt et al., 2001; Sirmon et al., 2007). There is evidence of a positive direct correlation between workforce diversity and overall performance (Pedrini, 2018; Hossain et al., 2020; Farmanesh et al., 2020). An organization's resources comprise workforce skills, knowledge, and behaviors required to sustain competitive advantage (Colbert, 2004; Barney, 1991, 2000).

Diversity is the distribution of differences in an attribute common among individuals (Harrison and Klein, 2007). In contrast, cognitive diversity is constructed

based on group-level knowledge, ideas, perspectives, and a cadre of beliefs coexisting within a unit. Early literature suggested that heterogeneity of ideas and perspectives will produce a vast spectrum of alternative perceptions of reality, thus impacting how units will interpret complex realities and what organizational decisions will be made (Weick 1995; Cyert et al. 2013). Furthermore, Miller et al. (1998) posited that cognitive diversity benefits in the context of information acquisitions, and groups with high cognitive diversity could capitalize on a wide range of related information for the problem.

Additionally, higher cognitive diversity impacts a company's ability to innovate effectively on a company's potential absorptive capacity. Moreover, it should expand a unit's stocks of pertinent knowledge and increase the scope of new emergent ideas incoming from exogenous sources to broaden the competitive advantage and diminish racial discourse.

Applications to Professional Practice

The results of this research may provide pertinent insight for organizations that want to diversify their senior-level positions. Understanding perceptions and experiences of AAWL could aid in organizations examining with critical lenses their practices for hiring and promoting African American women to senior executive positions within the company. According to Alston (2012), the AAWL must be examined and placed in the center of discourse to discredit or discount organizational leadership's double jeopardy bias of African American women. Additionally, this research study may be instrumental

to companies understanding the benefits of having African American women in senior executive positions.

Diversification of the senior executive workforce reduces identity threat concerns and increases its ability to perceive fairness and relations to its market base (Emerson & Murphy, 2014). Debebe and Reinhart (2014) and Holvino (2010) concur that growing a diverse workforce within an organization can benefit from a diverse clientele, organizational growth, competitive advantage, and the overarching quest of managing diversity within the organization.

Implications for Social Change

By imparting an understanding of the lived experiences of the participants (executive African American women) from this study, leadership may be able to use the results of the findings to reconsider the effectiveness of their strategies on recruitment, the in-house elevation of African American women, and implementation of diversity and inclusion policies and programs. With improving organizational strategies in conjunction with HR and financial projections, there is a possibility of positive social change to the career advancement experiences of African American women from the perspective of the individual. Therefore, upsurging the organizational competent candidate pool to expand the competitive advantage and resolving the lack of diversity in senior executive positions.

It is essential to embrace diversifying leadership roles to sustain competitiveness in Corporate America. According to Cortina et al. (2019), gender and race are catalysts

for social change within an organization. This study was to provide real-life experiences of AAE leaders. This study is a vehicle to echo their voices to extend dialogue on the double jeopardy biases and change the perceptions of African American women in the workforce. Davis (2016) postulated the emergence of African American women leaders in the United States represents an assay for emancipation from oppression and a vehicle for raising the community of African Americans from the depths of racial, educational, and economic subjugation. Bolstering a healthier diverse workforce where African American women visibly are heard in senior executive positions can broaden the organization's reach due to the organization perceived as diverse. The good ol' boy network is those who hold power and status in an organization are still a part of many organizations maintaining barriers to exclude women and minorities (Davis, 2016). With an increase in senior executive positions with African American women, there is a probable shift in the paradigm in beliefs, thoughts, and traditions. From the perspective of the workplace and societal ideas of what a leader maybe can expand past the inclusion of a homogenous environment to include African American women.

African American women traverse a fine line in the managerial field (Combs, 2016). They continue to shuffle between the double jeopardy of race and sex and the myriad of stereotypes associated with these. The far-reaching implications to African American women restrict diversity, limit the ability for various points of view based on divergent experiences in the workplace and repress growth. Ultimately, society

remains stagnant with this group and organizations dispossessed of a wealth of experiences and insight related to senior leadership.

A positive societal change includes the accretion of equal opportunities for African American women to senior executive positions (Cook & Glass, 2013). Achieving this goal requires employers to stop discounting problems and provide resources such as mentoring for African American women. Furthermore, Cain (2015) argued this action is required to shape the cultural attitude in the organizations that value and embrace African American women's capabilities. African American women in senior executive may better contribute. To a society based on their lived experiences. Thus, mentoring may increase the opportunities for African Americans to elevate to senior executive positions (Khosrvani & Ward, 2011). An implication for not providing mentors equates to unqualified African American women ready for senior leadership positions. The farreaching implications cross over from business to government. Davis (2015) posited that barrier to executive positions is a global phenomenon and is perceived to be against women. Adding the color for double jeopardy is most demoralizing (Sims & Carter, 2019; Parker & Ogilvie, 1996). Racism, not sexism, is expressed by African Americans as the most significant barrier to their upward mobility (Parker, 1996; Tally-Ross, 1992).

Overall, organizations remised that not having African American women in senior executive positions inhibits benefitting from a diverse perspective. Diversity is pivotal to the growth of organizations in a competitive global environment. If organizations

continue to mask their lack of culturally diverse intelligence, they could lose their competitive edge and relevancy (Forbes, 2011).

Recommendations for Action

Understanding the lived experiences and perception of African American women's reality in business could assist senior leaders to lend a critical lens to their promotion and hiring practices that marginalize African American women within the organization. According to Alston (2012), examining the lived experiences of African American women is essential to place a focal point of discourse to disparage organizational leadership fallacy and beliefs based on race and gender. Furthermore, this study may serve as a vehicle for organizations to discern the benefits of diversifying senior executive positions with African American women. Populating senior executive positions with a diverse body to include African American women reduces identity threat concerns and elevates the company's perception as fair (Emerson & Murphy, 2014). Incorporating a diverse workforce can attract a diversified customer base, expanding market competitiveness and organizational growth (Dehebe & Reinhart, 2014).

Recommendations for Further Research

The main limitation in this study was the circumspection of African American women who held or held senior executive positions—securing top African American women leadership participants excluded African American women who hold positions below the senior executive level. Additionally, the participant pool was regulated to the District of Columbia, limiting the participating demographic pool.

Therefore, I recommend conducting a similar study concentrating on a broader platform of African American women in positions lesser than the senior executive leadership. Additionally, I recommend expanding the geographical area to larger cities and inviting multiple marginalized groups for participation. Conducting an extensive study engaging other minority women may enhance the existing body of literature exponentially focusing on the experiences of a variety of ethnic minority groups to include Latinas and Asians, to name a few, to find the commonality expressed from their life experiences,

Reflections

This study reinforced and expanded insight on the barriers and lack of resources African American women contend within corporate America for career elevation. The impact on society is critical to maintaining a competitive advantage. Diversity at the executive level brings a breadth of cultural differences, knowledge, ideas, creativity, and knowledge innovation for growth and financial health. This study focused on the value African American women have on a company's competitive advantage. The importance of the emergent themes disseminated through the study is significant to promote a positive social impact.

At the beginning of this study, the faculty challenged me on the potential bias of using the identifier of African American women in the title. Moreover, as a subject matter of the study as opposed to women in general. This study conducted was in the light presented to impart significant issues regarding the disparities of African American

women's elevation to executive positions and their impact on the competitive advantage. The premise of the study is not specific to Caucasian women as their elevation statistically is removed from the obstacle's African American women face. Furthermore, the implicit double jeopardy bias is critical enough for extending research in hopes of shedding light that will change the fabric of racism and sexism to level the playing field of African American women in corporate America.

Conclusion

African American women continue to represent a marginalized group suffocated by double bias, racism, and sexism in the workplace. Attempting to ascend the corporate ladder continues to present obstacles and challenges in corporate America's executive network. This study superscribed the empirical literature gap in the unique experiences of African American women within corporate settings. The interviews conducted answered the research questions and intensified the argument for the study. The women who interviewed provided paramount acumen into African American women's perception of working within corporate America. Although additional research is required, this study adds to scholarly literature regarding the adverse impacts of the lack of diversity of African American women on business operations and the competitive advantage.

References

- Acker, J. (2012). Gendered organizations and intersectionality: Problems and possibilities. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, 31(3), 214–224. https://doi.org/10.1108/02610151211209072
- Adhabi, E. A. R., & Anozie, C. B. L. (2017). Literature review for the type of interview in qualitative research. *International Journal of Education*, *9*(3), 86. https://doi.org/10.5296/ije.v9i3.11483
- Aldiabat, K. M., & Le Navenec, C.L. (2018). Data saturation: The mysterious step in grounded theory method. The Qualitative Report, 23, 245-261. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr
- Alexander, T. (2010). Roots of leadership: Analysis of the narratives from african american women leaders in higher education. *The International Journal of Learning: Annual Review*, *17*(4), 193–204. https://doi.org/10.18848/1447-9494/cgp/v17i04/46973
- Aliyu, A., Bello, M. U., Kasim, R., & Martin, D. (2014). Positivist and non-positivist paradigm in social science research: Conflicting paradigms or perfect partners?

 Journal of Management and Sustainability, 4(3).

 https://doi.org/10.5539/jms.v4n3p79
- Allen, A., & Butler, B.R. (2014). African American women faculty: Towards a model of co-ethnic mentorship in the academe. *Journal of Progressive Policy and Practice*, 2(1), 111-122.

- Alston, J. A. (2012). Standing on the promises: A new generation of black women scholars in educational leadership and beyond. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 25(1), 127–129. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518398.2011.647725
- Angel, R. B., Killacky, J., & Johnson, P. R. (2013). African American Women Aspiring to the Superintendency: Lived Experiences and Barriers. *Journal of School Leadership*, 23(4), 592–614. https://doi.org/10.1177/105268461302300402
- Arfken, D. E., Bellar, S. L., & Helms, M. M. (2004). The ultimate glass ceiling revisited:

 The presence of women on corporate boards. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 50(2),

 177–186. https://doi.org/10.1023/b:busi.0000022125.95758.98
- Báez, A. B., Báez-García, A. J., Flores-Muñoz, F., & Gutiérrez-Barroso, J. (2018).
 Gender diversity, corporate governance, and firm behavior: The challenge of emotional management. *European Research on Management and Business Economics*, 24(3), 121–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iedeen.2018.07.001
- Baillie, L. (2015). Promoting and evaluating scientific rigour in qualitative research.

 Nursing Standard, 29(46), 36–42. https://doi.org/10.7748/ns.29.46.36.e8830
- Banerjee-Batist, R., Reio, T. G., & Rocco, T. S. (2018). Mentoring functions and outcomes: An integrative literature review of sociocultural factors and individual differences. *Human Resource Development Review*, *18*(1), 114–162. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484318810267

- Bansal, P. (Tima), Smith, W. K., & Vaara, E. (2018). New ways of seeing through qualitative research. *Academy of Management Journal*, 61(4), 1189–1195. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2018.4004
- Bapat, V. (2018). Why You Should Let Employees Personalize Their Job Descriptions. *Harvard Business Review Digital Articles*, 2–5.
- Barnes, J. (2017). Climbing the stairs to leadership: Reflections on moving beyond the stained-glass ceiling. *Journal of Leadership Studies*, 10(4), 47–53. https://doi.org/10.1002/jls.21503
- Barney, J. B. (2001). Resource-based theories of competitive advantage: A ten-year retrospective on the resource-based view. *Journal of Management*, 27(6), 643–650. https://doi.org/10.1177/014920630102700602
- Barth, H. (2018). Diversity as a Competitive Advantage? A Case Study of Immigrant

 Labour in Swedish Agriculture. *Journal of Leadership, Accountability and Ethics*,

 15(4). https://doi.org/10.33423/jlae.v15i4.175
- Beal, F. M. (2008). Double Jeopardy. *Meridians*, 8(2), 166–176. https://doi.org/10.2979/mer.2008.8.2.166
- Beating the odds. (2018). [by L. Roberts, A. Mayo, R. Ely, & D. Thomas]. *Harvard Business Review*, *March April 2018*, 126–131. https://hernewstandard.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/What-Black-Women-Know-About-Getting-to-the-Top.pdf

- Beckwith, A.L., Carter, D.R., & Peters, T. (2016). The underrepresentation of African American women in executive leadership: What's getting in the way? *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, 7(4), 115-134 Retrieved from https://search.proquest.com/openview/ff55ac0be8998b5ef30f0e60ef02420f/1?pqo rigsite= gscholar&cbl=1056382
- Beckwith, A. L., Carter, D. R., & Peters, T. (2019). Revisiting Parker & Ogilvie's

 African American Women Executive Leadership Model. *Journal of Business*Diversity, 19(2). https://doi.org/10.33423/jbd.v19i2.2058
- Berrey, E. (2015). Enigma of diversity the language of race and the limits of racial justice. Google Books; The University of Chicago Press.

 https://www.google.com/books/edition/_/ImjtBwAAQBAJ?hl=en&gbpv=1&pg=
 PP8&dq=+Enigma+of+diversity++the+language+of+race+and+the+limits+of+racial+justice
- Berry, D., & Bell, M. P. (2012). Inequality in organizations: stereotyping, discrimination, and labor law exclusions. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, *31*(3), 236–248. https://doi.org/10.1108/02610151211209090
- Bhabra, H. S., & Hossain, A. T. (2017). The Sarbanes Oxley act and corporate acquisitions. *Managerial Finance*, 43(4), 452–470. https://doi.org/10.1108/mf-10-2016-0291

- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802–1811.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Bond, M. A., & Haynes, M. C. (2014). Workplace diversity: A social-ecological framework and policy implications. *Social Issues and Policy Review*, 8(1), 167–201. https://doi.org/10.1111/sipr.12005
- Boulouta, I. (2013). Hidden connections: The link between board gender diversity and corporate social performance. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 113, 185-197
- Bouma, J. (Ed.), Jeucken, M. (Ed.), Klinkers, L. (Ed.). (2017). Sustainable banking.

 London: Routledge
- Bova, B. (2000). Mentoring revisited: The black woman's experience. *Mentoring & Tutoring: Partnership in Learning*, 8(1), 5–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/713685511
- Bower, G. G. (2008). Developing effective mentoring relationships with women in the health and fitness industry: Suggestions from the perspective of the protégé.

 *Women in Sport and Physical Activity Journal, 17(1), 38–46.

 https://doi.org/10.1123/wspaj.17.1.38
- Braaten, L. J. (1991). Group cohesion: A new multidimensional model. *Group*, 15(1), 39–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf01419845
- Bromley, E., Mikesell, L., Jones, F., & Khodyakov, D. (2015). From subject to participant: Ethics and the evolving role of community in health research.

- American Journal of Public Health, 105(5), 900–908. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2014.302403
- Brondyk, S., & Searby, L. (2013). Best practices in mentoring: Complexities and possibilities. *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, 2(3), 189–203. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijmce-07-2013-0040
- Brooks, K. J. (2019). Why so many black business professionals are missing from the C-suite. Retrieved from https://www.cbsnews.com/news/black-professionals-hold-only-3-percent-of-executive-jobs-1-percent-of-ceo-jobs-at-fortune-500-firms-new-report-says/
- Brown, C. (2017). Advancing African American women in the workplace. Black Enterprise Magazine, 34(11), p. 46
- Brown, S. D., & Lent, R. W. (1996). A social cognitive framework for career choice counseling. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 44(4), 354–366. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-0045.1996.tb00451.x
- Bruning, N. S., & Cadigan, F. (2014, September). Diversity and global talent management: are there cracks in the glass ceiling and glass border? *People & Strategy*, 37(3), 18+.
- Burgess, Z., and Tharenou, P., (2002). Women board directors: Characteristics of the few. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 37(1): 39-49
- Byrd, M.Y., and Scott, C. L. (2018). Diversity in the workforce: current issues and emerging trends. Routledge, 374

- Cahn, S. K., & Cayleff, S. E. (1996). Babe: The life and legend of babe Didrikson

 Zaharias. *The Journal of American History*, 82(4), 1621.

 https://doi.org/10.2307/2945407
- Cairney, P., & St Denny, E. (2014). What is qualitative research? (Bloomsbury).

 International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 18(1), 117–125.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2014.957434
- Canaday, S. (2017). *Cognitive diversity*. Psychology Today. https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/you-according-them/201706/cognitive-diversity
- Carrell, M. R., & Mann, E. E. (1995). Defining workforce diversity in public sector organizations. *Public Personnel Management*, 24(1), 99–111. https://doi.org/10.1177/009102609502400108
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). The qualitative report preparing for interview research: The interview3 protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(5), 811–831. ProQuest. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr
- Cayleff, S., Herron, M., Cormier, C., Wheeler, S., Chávez-Arteaga, A., Spain, J., & Dominguez, C. (2011). Oral history and "girls' voices": The young women's studies club as a site of empowerment. *Journal of International Women's Studies*, 12(4), 22-44.

- Charles, C., Gentles, S. J., McKibbon, K.A., Ploeg, J., (2015). Sampling in qualitative research: Insights from an overview of the methods literature. The Qualitative Report, 20, 1772-1789. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412950589.n885
- Chen, G., Crossland, C., & Huang, S. (2016). Female board representation and corporate acquisition intensity. *Strategic Management Journal*, *37*, 303-313.
- Chisholm-Burns, M. A., Spivey, C. A., Hagemann, T., & Josephson, M. A. (2017).

 Women in leadership and the bewildering glass ceiling. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 74(5), 312–324. https://doi.org/10.2146/ajhp160930
- Clark, K. R., & Veale, B. L. (2018). Strategies to enhance data collection and analysis in qualitative research. *Radiologic Technology*, 89(5), 482CT485CT. Writing and Research.
- Clayton, J. K., Sanzo, K. L., & Myran, S. (2013). Understanding mentoring in leadership development. *Journal of Research on Leadership Education*, 8(1), 77–96. https://doi.org/10.1177/1942775112464959
- Cletus, H. E., Mahmood, N. A., Umar, A., & Ibrahim, A. (2018). Prospects and challenges of workplace diversity in modern day organizations: A critical review. HOLISTICA – Journal of Business and Public Administration, 9(2), 35–52. https://doi.org/10.2478/hjbpa-2018-0011
- Colbert, B. A. (2004). The complex resource-based view: Implications for theory and practice in strategic human resource management. *Academy of Management Review*, 29(3), 341–358. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2004.13670987

- Collins, P. H. (1990). Black feminist thought: Knowledge, consciousness, and the politics of empowerment (1st ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Combs, G. M., & Milosevic, I. (2016). Workplace discrimination and the wellbeing of minority women: Overview, prospects, and implications. *Handbook on Well-Being of Working Women*, 17–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9897-6_2
- Connely, C. (2018, June). Why the gender pay gap still exists 55 years after the equal pay act was signed. NWLC; NWLC CNBC. https://nwlc.org/
- Cook, A., & Glass, C. (2013). Women and top leadership positions: Towards an institutional analysis. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 21(1), 91–103. https://doi.org/10.1111/gwao.12018
- Cortina, L., Kabat-Farr, D., Daniels, S. R., Holmvall, C. M., Sobhani, S., Sumpter, D. M., & Thornton, L. (2019). Selective incivility: Undermining ambitions of inclusion in organizations. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 2019(1), 12482. https://doi.org/10.5465/ambpp.2019.12482symposium
- Cotter, D. A., Hermsen, J. M., Ovadia, S., & Vanneman, R. (2001). The Glass Ceiling Effect. *Social Forces*, 80(2), 655–681. https://doi.org/10.1353/sof.2001.0091
- Craig, C. A., Allen, M. W., Reid, M. F., Riemenschneider, C. K., & Armstrong, D. J. (2012). The impact of career mentoring and psychosocial mentoring on affective organizational commitment, job involvement, and turnover intention.

 Administration & Society, 45(8), 949–973.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399712451885

- Creswell, J. W. (2012). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Cyert, R. M., March, J. G., & Clarkson, G. R. E. (2013). A behavioral theory of the firm.

 Martino Publishing.
- Daniels, S. (2019, May 3). How diverse are Chicago's corporate boards? It's complicated. *Crain's Chicago Business*. Retrieved from How diverse are Chicago's corporate boards? It's complicated.
- Davis, D. J., Reynolds, R., & Jones, T. B. (2011). Promoting the inclusion of tenure earning black women in academe: Lessons for leaders in education. *Florida Journal of Educational Administration & Policy*, *5*(1), 28–41. ERIC.
- Davis, D. R. (2016). The Journey to the top: Stories on the intersection of race and gender or African American women in academia and business. Journal of Research Initiatives, 2(1), 1-12. Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.uncfsu.edu/jri/vol2/iss1/4
- Davis, D. R., & Maldonado, C. (2015). Shattering the Glass Ceiling: The Leadership

 Development of African American Women in Higher Education. Retrieved from

 https://awl-ojs-tamu.tdl.org/awl/index.php/awl/article/view/125
- Debebe, G. (2017). Authentic leadership and talent development: Fulfilling individual potential in sociocultural context. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 19(4), 420–438. https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422317728938

- Debebe, G., & Reinert, K. A. (2014). Leading with our whole selves: A multiple identity approach to leadership development. *Handbook of Race-Ethnicity and Gender in Psychology*, 271–293. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-8860-6_12
- DeCuir-Gunby, J. T., & Gunby, N. W. (2016). Racial microaggressions in the workplace. *Urban Education*, 51(4), 390–414. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085916628610
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semi structured interviewing in primary care research: A balance of relationship and rigour. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2), e000057. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- Detmering, R., & Johnson, A. M. (2011). Focusing on the Thinking, Not the Tools:

 Incorporating Critical Thinking into an Information Literacy Module for an

 Introduction to Business Course. *Journal of Business & Finance Librarianship*,

 16(2), 101–107. https://doi.org/10.1080/08963568.2011.554771
- Dinh, J. E., Lord, R. G., Gardner, W. L., Meuser, J. D., Liden, R. C., & Hu, J. (2014).

 Leadership theory and research in the new millennium: Current theoretical trends and changing perspectives. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25(1), 36–62.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.11.005
- Doherty, A., Fink, J., Inglis, S., & Pastore, D. (2010). Understanding a culture of diversity through frameworks of power and change. *Sport Management Review*, 13(4), 368–381. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2010.01.006

- Dominguez, N., & Hager, M. (2013). Mentoring frameworks: Synthesis and critique. *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, 2(3), 171–188. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijmce-03-2013-0014
- Drotner, K., Dziekan, V., Parry, R., & Schrøder, K. C. (2018). The routledge handbook of museums, media, and communication (K. Drotner, V. Dziekan, R. Parry, & K. C. Schrøder, Eds.; 1st ed., pp. 315–318). Routledge.
 https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315560168
- Dunbar, D., & Kinnersley, R. (2011). Mentoring female leaders toward leadership success. In *Deltakappagamma.org* (pp. 17–21). http://www.deltakappagamma.org/NH/DKGbulletinspring2011.PDF#page=17
- Dworkin, T. M., Maurer, V., & Schipani, C. A. (2012). Career mentoring for women:

 New horizons/Expanded methods. *Business Horizons*, *55*(4), 363–372.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2012.03.001
- Dziczkowski, J. (2013). Mentoring and leadership development. *The Educational Forum*, 77(3), 351–360. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131725.2013.792896
- Early, P. C., & Ang, S. (2018). Cultural intelligence: Individual interactions across cultures. Stanford University Press.
- Eby, L., Allen, T. D., Hoffman, B. J., Baranik, L. E., Sauer, J. B., Baldwin, S., Morrison, M. A., Kinkade, K. M., Maher, C. P., Curtis, S., & Evans, S. C. (2013). An interdisciplinary meta-analysis of the potential antecedents, correlates, and

- consequences of protégé perceptions of mentoring. *Psychological Bulletin*, 139(2), 441–476. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029279
- Edwards, G., & Turnbull, S. (2012). A cultural approach to evaluating leadership development. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, *15*(1), 46–60. https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422312467144
- Edwards, L. (2013). Institutional racism in cultural production: The case of public relations. *Popular Communication*, 11(3), 242–256. https://doi.org/10.1080/15405702.2013.810084
- Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Pölkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngäs, H. (2014).

 Qualitative content analysis. *SAGE Open*, *4*(1), 215824401452263.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014522633
- Emerson, K. T. U., & Murphy, M. C. (2014). Identity threat at work: How social identity threat and situational cues contribute to racial and ethnic disparities in the workplace. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 20(4), 508–520. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035403
- Evans, M. (2011). Boardroom Breakthroughs. Essence, 42(5), 152.
- Fagenson, E. A., & Jackson, J. J. (1993). The status of women managers in the United States. *International Studies of Management & Organization*, 23(2), 93–112. https://doi.org/10.1080/00208825.1993.11656608
- Fan, D. (2018). Why Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Struggle in Corporate

 America. *Profiles in Diversity Journal*, 58–63.

- Farmanesh, P., Vehbi, A., Zargar, P., Sousan, A., & Bhatti, F. (2020). Is there always a positive relationship between workplace diversity and organizational performance, or does diversity fatigue imply a suppressing effect? *Southeast European Journal of Economics and Business*, *15*(1), 14–26. https://doi.org/10.2478/jeb-2020-0002
- Feagin, J., & Elias, S. (2013). Rethinking racial formation theory: A systemic racism critique. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, *36*(6), 931–960. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2012.669839
- Federal Glass Ceiling Commission. (1995). Good for business: Making full use of the nation's human capital: The environmental scan. A fact-finding report of the federal glass ceiling commission. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Labor.
- Fitzsimmons, T. W., Callan, V. J., & Paulsen, N. (2014). Gender disparity in the c-suite:

 Do male and female CEOs differ in how they reached the top? *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25(2), 245–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.08.005
- Fossey, E., et al. (2002). Understanding and evaluating qualitative research. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 36(6), 717-732.
- Fraser, E. (2018). Women in the C-Suite: Are We Closing in on Gender Parity? *Profiles* in *Diversity Journal*, 78–83.
- Fraser, E. (2019). Where Do We Go from Here? Women and Diversity in 2019. *Profiles*in *Diversity Journal*, https://diversityjournal.com/19200-where-do-we-go-from-here-women-and-diversity-in-2019/

- Frey, W.H., and Brookings Institution. (2018). *Diversity explosion: how new racial*demographics are remaking America (pp.21-42). Brookings Institution Press.

 (Original work published 2015)
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G., & Ness, L. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, *10*(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02
- Galbreath, J. (2016). Is board gender diversity linked to financial performance? The mediating mechanism of CSR. *Business & Society*, *57*(5), 863–889. https://doi.org/10.1177/0007650316647967
- Galbreath, J. (2018). Do boards of directors influence corporate sustainable development? An attention-based analysis. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 27(6), 742–756. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2028
- Galinsky, A. D., Todd, A. R., Homan, A. C., Phillips, K. W., Apfelbaum, E. P., Sasaki, S. J., Richeson, J. A., Olayon, J. B., & Maddux, W. W. (2015). Maximizing the gains and minimizing the pains of diversity. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 10(6), 742–748. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691615598513
- Galperin, B. L., Michaud, J., Senaji, T. A., & Taleb, A. (2018). Perceptions of leadership effectiveness among the african diaspora in canada and USA. *Journal of African Business*, 20(1), 20–40. https://doi.org/10.1080/15228916.2018.1455485
- Gamble, E. D., & Turner, N. J. (2015). Career ascension of African American women in executive positions in postsecondary faculty of color face the challenges of the

- tenure track. *Journal of Organizational Culture, Communications and Conflict*, 19(1), 82–101. Questia.com. https://www.questia.com/library/journal/1G1-423819258/career-ascension-of-african-american-women-in-executive
- Gareche, M., Hosseini, S. M., & Taheri, M. (2019). A comprehensive literature review in competitive advantages of businesses. *International Journal of Advanced Studies in Humanities and Social Science*, 8(3), 223–240. https://doi.org/10.33945/sami/ijashss.2019.3.1
- Garvey, B., Stokes, P., & Megginson, D. (2018). *Coaching and mentoring: Theory and practice*. Sage.
- Germain, M. L., Herzog, M. J. R., & Hamilton, P. R. (2012). Women employed in male-dominated industries: Lessons learned from female aircraft pilots, pilots-intraining and mixed-gender flight instructors. *Human Resource Development International*, 15(4), 435–453. https://doi.org/10.1080/13678868.2012.707528
- Ghosh, R., & Reio, T. G. (2013). Career benefits associated with mentoring for mentors:

 A meta-analysis. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 83(1), 106–116.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2013.03.011
- Gibson, C. B. (2016). Elaboration, Generalization, Triangulation, and Interpretation.

 *Organizational Research Methods, 20(2), 193–223.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428116639133

- Glass, C., & Cook, A. (2017). Do women leaders promote positive change? Analyzing the effect of gender on business practices and diversity initiatives. *Human**Resource Management, 57(4), 823–837. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21838
- Gomes, S., & Duarte, V. (2018). What about ethics? Developing qualitative research in confinement settings. *European Journal of Criminology*, *17*(4), 461–479. https://doi.org/10.1177/1477370818801305
- Graham, M. E., Belliveau, M. A., & Hotchkiss, J. L. (2016). The View at the Top or Signing at the Bottom? Workplace Diversity Responsibility and Women's Representation in Management. *ILR Review*, 70(1), 223–258. https://doi.org/10.1177/0019793916668879
- Grant, C. M. (2012). Advancing our legacy: a Black feminist perspective on the significance of mentoring for African American women in educational leadership.

 International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education, 25(1), 101–117.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09518398.2011.647719
- Gündemir, S., Homan, A. C., de Dreu, C. K. W., & van Vugt, M. (2014). Think Leader, Think White? Capturing and Weakening an Implicit Pro-White Leadership Bias. *PLUS, ONE*, *9*(1), e83915. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0083915
- Guynn, J. (2017). Silicon Valley's race gap is getting worse not better, new research shows. *USA* Today
- Halbritter et al. (2012). Time, lives, and videotape: Operationalizing discovery in scenes of literacy sponsorship. College English, 75(2), 171–198.

- Hambrick, D.C. (1994). 'Top management groups: A conceptual integration and reconsideration of the "team label". In B. M. Staw and L.L. Cummings (eds.), *Research in Organizational Behavior*. JAI Press, Greenwich, Ct. pp. 171-213.
- Hammarberg, K., Kirkman, M., & De Lacey, S. (2016). Qualitative research methods: when to use them and how to judge them. *Human Reproduction*, *31*(3), 498–501. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dev334
- Hancock, D., & Algozzine, B. (2006). Doing case study research: A practical guide for beginning researchers. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Hanningtone, J. G., Struweg, M., & Smith, E. E. (2013). Creating a sustainable competitive advantage at a high performing firm in Kenya. *Academic Journals*, 7(21), 2049–2058. African Journal of Business Management. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJBM2013.6974.
- Harjoto, M., Laksmana, I., & Lee, R. (2015). Board diversity and corporate social responsibility. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *132*, 641-660
- Harrison, D. A., & Klein, K. J. (2007). What's the difference? diversity constructs as separation, variety, or disparity in organizations. *Academy of Management Review*, 32(4), 1199–1228. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2007.26586096
- Harrison, H., Birks, M., Franklin, R., & Mills, J. (2017). Case study research:

 Foundations and methodological orientations. Forum Qualitative Social for Change, 18(1). https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-18.1.2655

- Harris, S., & Maymi, F. (2016). CISSP all in one exam guide (7 th Ed.). New York.

 McGraw-Hill Education.
- Harzing, A. W., & Metz, I. (2017, June). *Gender and geographical diversity in the JIBS editorial board: an update*. Harzing.com.

 https://harzing.com/blog/2017/06/gender-and-geographical-diversity-in-the-jibs-editorial-board-an-update
- Helton, K. A., & Soubik, J. A. (2004). Case Study: Pennsylvania's Changing Workforce: Planning Today with Tomorrow's Vision. *Public Personnel Management*, *33*(4), 459–473. https://doi.org/10.1177/009102600403300408
- Henry, S. G., et al. (2016). Building trust between Institutional Review Boards and researchers. Journal of General Internal Medicine, 31, 987-989. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-016-3721-3
- Hernandez, J. S., MD, MS, (2014). Diversity of Thought: A Competitive Advantage

 *American Association for Physician Leadership 40(3)
- Hewlett, S.A., Marshall, M., and Sherbin, L. (2003). How diversity can drive innovation.

 Harvard Business Review,
- Hideg, I., & Wilson, A. E. (2019). History backfires: Reminders of past injustices against women undermine support for workplace policies promoting women.
 Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 156, 176–189.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2019.10.001

- Hill, G., & Kemp, S. M. (2016). Uh-Oh! What Have We Missed? A Qualitative Investigation into Everyday Insight Experience. *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, 52(3), 201–211. https://doi.org/10.1002/jocb.142
- Hitt, M. A., Bierman, L., Shimizu, K., & Kochhar, R. (2001). Direct and Moderating Effects of Human Capital on Strategy and Performance in Professional Service Firms: A Resource-Based Perspective. *Academy of Management Journal*, 44(1), 13–28. https://doi.org/10.5465/3069334
- Holmes, K., and Frye, J., (2016) National Women's Law Center, "Lifetime Wage Gap Losses for African American Women: State Rankings 2014" available at http://nwlc.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/ African-American-women-lifetime-wage-gaps-2015.pdf.
- Holvino, E. (2008). Intersections: The Simultaneity of Race, Gender and Class in Organization Studies. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 17(3), 248–277. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0432.2008.00400.x
- Hooks, B. (1984). From margin to center. Boston, MA: South End.
- Hossain, M., Atif, M., Ahmed, A., & Mia, L. (2019). Do LGBT Workplace Diversity

 Policies Create Value for Firms? *Journal of Business Ethics*, 167(4).

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04158-z
- Hsu, C., Lai, W., & Yen, S. (2018). Boardroom Diversity and Operating Performance:

 The Moderating Effect of Strategic Change. *Emerging Markets Finance and Trade*, 55(11), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1080/1540496x.2018.1519414

- Huang, J., Krivkovich, A., Starikova, L., Yee, L., & Zanoschi, D. (2019). Women in the workplace. https://www.agec.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/McKinsey-Women-in-the-workplace-2019.pdf
- Iivari, N. (2018). Using member checking in interpretive research practice. *Information Technology & People*, *31*(1), 111–133. ProQuest. https://doi.org/10.1108/itp-07-2016-0168
- Irby, B. J. (2014). Advancing Women of Color in the Academy: Research Perspectives on Mentoring and Strategies for Success. *Mentoring & Tutoring: Partnership in Learning*, 22(4), 265–268. https://doi.org/10.1080/13611267.2014.946280
- Jackson, L. C., & Bouchard, M. M. (2019). Mentoring: A Key Success Factor for African American Women in the U.S. Federal Senior Executive Service. SAM Advanced Management Journal (07497075), 84(4), 35–58.
- Jagannathan, M. (2019). Women have made gains in the C-suite, but they still face one critical 'broken rung' on the corporate ladder. Retrieved from https://www.marketwatch.com/story/women-have-made-gains-in-the-c-suite-but-they-still-face-one-critical-broken-rung-on-the-corporate-ladder-2019-10-16
- Jain, T., & Jamali, D. (2016). Looking inside the black box: The effect of corporate governance on corporate social responsibility. Corporate Governance: *An International Review*, 24, 253-273.
- Jeucken, M., Bouma, J. (Ed), & Klinkers, L. (Ed). (2009). Sustainable Banking.

 Earthscan.

- Johns, M. L. (2013). Breaking the glass ceiling: Structural, cultural, and organizational barriers preventing women from achieving senior and executive positions.

 Perspectives in Health Information Management, 10(Winter). Retrieved from 162 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3544145/
- Johnson, J. M. (2016). THE LEADERSHIP STYLES AND BEHAVIORS OF AFRICAN

 AMERICAN WOMEN EXECUTIVES ACROSS MULTIPLE ECONOMIC

 SECTORS ProQuest. Proquest.com.

 https://search.proquest.com/openview/070a2bf9cfa3c4c070a8da3ece3625f1/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=626342
- Jones, K. P., King, E. B., Nelson, J., Geller, D. S., & Bowes-Sperry, L. (2013). Beyond the Business Case: An Ethical Perspective of Diversity Training. *Human Resource Management*, 52(1), 55–74. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21517
- Jones, S. R., Torres, V., & Arminio, J. (2014). Issues in analysis and interpretation. In

 Negotiating the complexities of qualitative research in higher education:

 Fundamental elements and issues (2nd ed., pp. 157–173). Routledge.
- Joslin, R., & Müller, R. (2016). Identifying interesting project phenomena using philosophical and methodological triangulation. *International Journal of Project Management*, 34(6), 1043–1056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2016.05.005
- Kaba, A. J. (2012). The Exclusion of Black Women from National Leadership Positions in the United States: Taxation with Limited Representation. *Sociology Mind*, 02(02), 133–140. https://doi.org/10.4236/sm.2012.22017

- Kameny, R. R., DeRosier, M. E., Taylor, L. C., McMillen, J. S., Knowles, M. M., & Pifer, K. (2013). Barriers to Career Success for Minority Researchers in the Behavioral Sciences. *Journal of Career Development*, 41(1), 43–61. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845312472254
- Kanchanabha, B., & Badir, Y. F. (2021). Top management Team's cognitive diversity and the Firm's ambidextrous innovation capability: The mediating role of ambivalent interpretation. *Technology in Society*, *64*, 101499. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2020.101499
- Key, S., Popkin, S., Munchus, G., Wech, B., Hill, V., & Tanner, J. (2012). An exploration of leadership experiences among white women and women of color. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 25(3), 392–404. https://doi.org/10.1108/09534811211228111
- Khosrovani, M., & Ward, J. W. (2011). African Americans' perceptions of access to workplace opportunities: A survey of employees in Houston, Texas. Cultural Diversity, 18(4), 134-141
- Kong, M., Qian, X., Yang, L., & Gao, P. (2016). A study on the relationship between employees' career success and subjective well-being. (p. 1). Academy of Management Annual Meeting Proceedings.
- Korsakienė, R. (2012). Determinants of Competitive Advantage and Internationalization:

 Investigation of Interrelationships. *Verslas: Teorija Ir Praktika*, *13*(4), 283–291.

 https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2012.30

- Kulik, C. T., & Roberson, L. (2008). Common Goals and Golden Opportunities:
 Evaluations of Diversity Education in Academic and Organizational Settings.
 Academy of Management Learning & Education, 7(3), 309–331.
 https://doi.org/10.5465/amle.2008.34251670
- Kundu, S. C., & Mor, A. (2017). Workforce diversity and organizational performance: a study of IT industry in India. *Employee Relations*, 39(2), 160–183. https://doi.org/10.1108/er-06-2015-0114
- Kwon, M., & Yang, H. (2016). The Influence of Entrepreneurial Supporting Policy and Entrepreneurship on Entrepreneurial Intention in the fusion of industries -Considering the moderating effect of the business failure burden and selfefficacy-. *Journal of Digital Convergence*, 14(5), 21–37. https://doi.org/10.14400/jdc.2016.14.5.21
- Lammers, J., & Gast, A. (2017). Stressing the Advantages of Female Leadership Can Place Women at a Disadvantage. *Social Psychology*, 48(1), 28–39. https://doi.org/10.1027/1864-9335/a000292
- Larkin, M. (2020). Board Gender Diversity, Corporate Reputation, and Market

 Performance. *International Journal of Banking and Finance*, 9(1), 1-26.

 Retrieved from http://e-journal.uum.edu.my/index.php/ijbf/article/view/8446
- Leck, J., & Orser, B. (2013). Fostering trust in mentoring relationships: An exploratory study. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, *32*(4), 410–425. https://doi.org/10.1108/edi-01-2010-0007

- Leedy, P. D., & Jeanne Ellis Ormrod. (2016). *Practical research: planning and design* (11th ed.). Pearson.
- Lewis, J. A., & Neville, H. A. (2015). Construction and initial validation of the Gendered Racial Microaggressions Scale for Black women. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 62(2), 289–302. https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000062
- Lindsey, A., King, E., McCausland, T., Jones, K., & Dunleavy, E. (2013). What We Know and Don't: Eradicating Employment Discrimination 50 Years After the Civil Rights Act. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, *6*(4), 391–413. https://doi.org/10.1111/iops.12075
- Lofland, J. (1995). Analytic Ethnography. *Journal of Contemporary Ethnography*, 24(1), 30–67. https://doi.org/10.1177/089124195024001002
- Lyness, K. S., & Grotto, A. R. (2018). Women and Leadership in the United States: Are We Closing the Gender Gap? *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, *5*(1), 227–265. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevorgpsych-032117-104739
- Lyons, A. C., Goodwin, I., McCreanor, T., & Griffin, C. (2015). Social networking and young adults' drinking practices: Innovative qualitative methods for health behavior research. *Health Psychology*, *34*(4), 293–302. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000168
- Mahadeo, J. D., Soobaroyen, T., & Hanuman, V. O. (2011). Board Composition and Financial Performance: Uncovering the Effects of Diversity in an Emerging

- Economy. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *105*(3), 375–388. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-011-0973-z
- Marques, J. F. (2009) Colorful Window Dressing: A critical review on workplace diversity in three major American Corporations.
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). Designing qualitative research (6th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage
- Marshall, M., and Wingfield, T. (2016). Getting More Black Women into the C-Suite. Retrieved from https://hbr.org/2016/07/getting-more-black-women-into-the-c-suite
- Martin, P. Y. (2006). Practising Gender at Work: Further Thoughts on Reflexivity.

 Gender, Work and Organization, 13(3), 254–276. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0432.2006.00307.x
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2014). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, *30*(7), 537–542. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267659114559116
- McDowell, W. C., Peake, W. O., Coder, L., & Harris, M. L. (2018). Building small firm performance through intellectual capital development: Exploring innovation as the "black box." *Journal of Business Research*, 88, 321–327. Science Direct. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.01.025

- Meissner, P., & Wulf, T. (2017). The effect of cognitive diversity on the illusion of control bias in strategic decisions: An experimental investigation. *European Management Journal*, *35*(4), 430–439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2016.12.004
- Meriläinen, S., Tienari, J., Katila, S., & Benschop, Y. (2009). Diversity management versus gender equality: The Finnish case. Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences, 26(3), 230–243.
- Miles, M., & Huberman, M. (1994). Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook.

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Miller, C. C., Burke, L. M., & Glick, W. H. (1998). Cognitive diversity among upper-echelon executives: implications for strategic decision processes. *Strategic Management Journal*, *19*(1), 39–58. https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1097-0266(199801)19:1<39::aid-smj932>3.0.co;2-a
- Mohammed, S., & Ringseis, E. (2001). Cognitive Diversity and Consensus in Group

 Decision Making: The Role of Inputs, Processes, and Outcomes. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 85(2), 310–335.

 https://doi.org/10.1006/obhd.2000.2943
- Mondisa, J., & Adams, R. S. (2020). A learning partnerships perspective of how mentors help protégés develop self-authorship. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*. https://doi.org/10.1037/dhe0000291

- Montgomery, B. L. (2017). Mapping a Mentoring Roadmap and Developing a Supportive Network for Strategic Career Advancement. *SAGE Open*, 7(2), 215824401771028. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244017710288
- Montgomery, B. L., Dodson, J. E., & Johnson, S. M. (2014). Guiding the Way. *SAGE Open*, 4(4), 215824401455804. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014558043
- Moore, J. H., & Wang, Z. (2017). Mentoring Top Leadership Promotes Organizational Innovativeness through Psychological Safety and Is Moderated by Cognitive Adaptability. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00318
- Moore, L. S. (2013). Women and the Emergence of the NAACP. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 49(3), 476–489. https://doi.org/10.1080/10437797.2013.796809
- Moreno-Gómez, J., Lafuente, E., & Vaillant, Y. (2018). Gender diversity in the board, women's leadership and business performance. *Gender in Management: An International Journal*, 33(2), 104–122. https://doi.org/10.1108/gm-05-2017-0058
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical Analysis of Strategies for Determining Rigor in Qualitative Inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(9), 1212–1222. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315588501
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2017). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 9–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091

- Mullings, L. (2014). On our own terms: race, class, and gender in the lives of African American women. Routledge.
- Museus, S. D. (2013). The Culturally Engaging Campus Environments (CECE) Model: A New Theory of Success Among Racially Diverse College Student Populations.
 Higher Education: Handbook of Theory and Research, 28, 189–227.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-8005-6_5
- Muzio, D., & Tomlinson, J. (2012). Editorial: Researching Gender, Inclusion and Diversity in Contemporary Professions and Professional Organizations. *Gender,* Work & Organization, 19(5), 455–466. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0432.2012.00608.x
- Naff, K.C. (2019). To Look Like America: dismantling barriers for women and minorities in government. S.l.: ROUTLEDGE.
- Narayanan, V. K., Zane, L. J., & Kemmerer, B. (2011). The Cognitive Perspective in Strategy: An Integrative Review. *Journal of Management*, *37*(1), 305–351. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206310383986
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and

 Behavioral Research. (1979). The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and
 guidelines for the Protection of human subjects of research. Washington, DC.

 Retrieved from hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/Belmont.html
- Nkomo, S., & Hoobler, J. M. (2014). A historical perspective on diversity ideologies in the United States: Reflections on human resource management research and

- practice. *Human Resource Management Review*, 24(3), 245–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2014.03.006
- Nkomo, S. M., Bell, M. P., Roberts, L. M., Joshi, A., & Thatcher, S. M. B. (2019).

 Diversity at a Critical Juncture: New Theories for a Complex Phenomenon.

 Academy of Management Review, 44(3), 498–517.

 https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2019.0103
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 18(2), 34–35. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Northouse, P. G. (2019). Leadership: Theory and practice (5th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications.
- O'Brien, K. M., Franco, M. G., & Dunn, M. G. (2014). Women of color in the workplace: Support, barriers, and interventions. In M. L. Miville & A. D. Ferguson (Eds.), Handbook of race-ethnicity and gender in psychology (pp. 3-21). New York, NY: Springer
- Ortiz, S. Y., & Roscigno, V. J. (2009). Discrimination, Women, and Work: Processes and Variations by Race and Class. *The Sociological Quarterly*, *50*(2), 336–359. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1533-8525.2009.01143.x
- Ospina, S., & Foldy, E. (2009). A critical review of race and ethnicity in the leadership literature: Surfacing context, power, and the collective dimensions of leadership.

 The Leadership Quarterly, 20(6), 876–896.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2009.09.005

- Pace, C. (2018). How Women of Color Get to Senior Management [Review of *How Women of Color Get to Senior Management*]. *Harvard Business Review*.
- Page, S.E. (2019). The diversity bonus: how great teams pay off in the knowledge economy (pp.13-162). Princeton University Press.
- Parker, P. S. (2004). Race, gender, and leadership: Re-envisioning organizational leadership from the perspectives of African American women executives.

 Retrieved from https://ebookcentral.proquest.com
- Patterson, N., Mavin, S., & Turner, J. (2012). Envisioning female entrepreneur: leaders anew from a gender perspective. *Gender in Management: An International Journal*, 27(6), 395–416. https://doi.org/10.1108/17542411211269338
- Patton, L. D., & Haynes, C. M. (2014). Using Critical Interpretive Lenses to Examine

 Glass Ceiling Effects Through Qualitative Research. *New Directions for Institutional Research*, 2013(159), 25–35. https://doi.org/10.1002/ir.20051
- Pedrini, M. (2016). Exploring the effect of gender diversity in MFIs during turbulent periods. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 29(16), 2455–2481. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1246460
- Pérez Huber, L., & Solorzano, D. G. (2014). Racial microaggressions as a tool for critical race research. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, *18*(3), 297–320. https://doi.org/10.1080/13613324.2014.994173
- Perry, B. L., Pullen, E. L., & Oser, C. B. (2012). Too Much of a Good Thing?

 Psychosocial Resources, Gendered Racism, and Suicidal Ideation among Low

- Socioeconomic Status African American Women. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 75(4), 334–359. https://doi.org/10.1177/0190272512455932
- Philippe, M. (2011). Cracking the new and improved 21st century glass ceiling. *Profiles in Diversity Journal*, 13(3), 1243–1269. Business Source Complete. https://web-a-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=0&sid=6b835784-
- Picken, J. C. (2017). From startup to scalable enterprise: Laying the foundation. *Business Horizons*, 60(5), 587–595. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2017.05.002
- Pierre, F., (2019) "Breaking The Concrete Wall: The Challenges Facing African-American Women In The Workplace" (*Honors Theses*.)

 237.https://digitalcommons.salemstate.edu/honors_theses/237

4d35-488c-b875-28684fba97de%40sessionmgr4008

- Pittman, D. M., Riedy Rush, C., Hurley, K. B., & Minges, M. L. (2020). Double jeopardy: Intimate partner violence vulnerability among emerging adult women through lenses of race and sexual orientation. *Journal of American College Health*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2020.1740710
- Qin, J., Muenjohn, N., & Chhetri, P. (2013). A review of diversity conceptualizations.

 *Human Resource Development Review, 13(2), 133–157.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484313492329
- Rahmi, D. Y., & Indarti, N. (2019). Examining the relationships among cognitive diversity, knowledge sharing and team climate in team innovation. *Team*

- Performance Management: An International Journal, 25(5/6), 299–317. https://doi.org/10.1108/tpm-11-2018-0070
- Rambeau, N., & California Institute Of The Arts. School Of Critical Studies. (2013).

 *Double jeopardy: to be black and female. The New Press.
- Ratcliff, N. J., Vescio, T. K., & Dahl, J. L. (2015). (Still) waiting in the wings: Group-based biases in leaders' decisions about to whom power is relinquished. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, *57*, 23–30.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2014.11.004
- Reed, S.E. (2019). Corporate boards are diversifying. The C-suite isn't. Retrieved from https://www.washingtonpost.com/outlook/corporate-boards-are-diversifying-the-c-suite-isnt/2019/01/04/c45c3328-0f02-11e9-8938-5898adc28fa2_story.html
- Reissman, C. K. (1993). Narrative analysis. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Richard, O. C. (2000). Racial Diversity, Business Strategy, and Firm Performance: A Resource-Based View. *Academy of Management Journal*, *43*(2), 164–177. https://doi.org/10.5465/1556374
- Richard, O. C., & Johnson, N. B. (2001). Strategic human resource management effectiveness and firm performance. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 12(2), 299–310. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585190121674
- Ridder, H-G. (2017). The theory contribution of case study research designs. *Business Research*, 10(2), 281–305. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40685-017-0045-z

- Ridder, H. G. (2017). The theory contribution of case study research designs. *Business Research*, 10(2), 281–305. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40685-017-0045-z
- Rinehart, N. T. (2016). The Man That Was a Thing: Reconsidering Human

 Commodification in Slavery. *Journal of Social History*, 50(1), 28–50.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/jsh/shv129
- R. M. Cyert, March, J. G., & G. P. E. Clarkson. (2013). A behavioral theory of the firm.

 Martino Publishing.
- Robinson, G., & Dechant, K. (1997). Building a business case for diversity. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 11(3), 21–31. https://doi.org/10.5465/ame.1997.9709231661
- Ruona, W. E. A., & Gibson, S. K. (2004). The making of twenty-first-century HR: An analysis of the convergence of HRM, HRD, and OD. *Human Resource Management*, 43(1), 49–66. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.20002
- Sandelowski, M. (2015). A matter of taste: evaluating the quality of qualitative research.

 Nursing Inquiry, 22(2), 86–94. https://doi.org/10.1111/nin.12080
- Sarmiento, J. P., Hoberman, G., Ilcheva, M., Asgary, A., Majano, A. M. ., Poggione, S., & Duran, L. R. (2015). Private sector and disaster risk reduction: The Cases of Bogota, Miami, Kingston, San Jose, Santiago, and Vancouver. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 14, 225–237.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2014.09.008

- Saunders, M. K., & Townsend, K. (2016). Reporting and justifying the number of interview participants in organization and workplace research. *British Journal of Management*, 27(4), 836–852. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12182
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2019). Research methods for business students (8th ed.). Pearson.
- Saunders, M. N. K., et al. (2018). Research methods for business students. Pearson.
- Saunders, M. N. K., et al. (2019). *Research methods for business students* (8th ed.). Pearson.
- Sawyer, K. (2011). Global diversity and inclusion: Fostering innovation through a diverse workforce. In *Forbes.com*. Forbes Media. https://www.forbes.com/forbesinsights/innovation_diversity/
- Saxena, A. (2014). Workforce diversity: A key to improve productivity. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 11, 76–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2212-5671(14)00178-6
- See-to, E. W. K., Sumbal, M., & Tsui, E. (2017). Interrelationship between big data and knowledge management: An exploratory study in the oil and gas sector. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 21(1), 180–196. https://doi.org/10.1108/jkm-07-2016-0262
- Sesko, A. K., & Biernat, M. (2010). Prototypes of race and gender: The invisibility of black women. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 46(2), 356–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2009.10.016

- Sessler Bernstein, R., & Bilimoria, D. (2013). Diversity perspectives and minority nonprofit board member inclusion. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, 32(7), 636–653. https://doi.org/10.1108/edi-02-2012-0010
- Sidaway-Lee, K., Gray, D. P., & Evans, P. (2019). A method for measuring continuity of care in day-to-day general practice: A quantitative analysis of appointment data.

 British Journal of General Practice, 69(682), e356–e362.

 https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp19x701813
- Sim, J., et al. (2018). Can sample size in qualitative 161 research be determined a priori?

 International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 21, 619-634.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1454643
- Sims, C. M., & Carter, A. D. (2019). Revisiting Parker Ogilvie's African American

 Women Executive Leadership Model. *Journal of Business Diversity*, 19(2), 99–

 112
- Sirmon, D. G., Hitt, M. A., & Ireland, R. D. (2007). Managing firm resources in dynamic environments to create value: Looking inside the black box. *Academy of Management Review*, 32(1), 273–292. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2007.23466005
- Skaggs, S., Stainback, K., & Duncan, P. (2012). Shaking things up or business as usual?

 The influence of female corporate executives and board of directors on women's managerial representation. *Social Science Research*, *41*(4), 936–948.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2012.01.006

- Smith, A. N., Watkins, M. B., Ladge, J. J., & Carlton, P. (2018). Interviews with 59

 Black Female Executives Explore Intersectional Invisibility and Strategies to

 Overcome It. *Harvard Business Review Digital Articles*, 2–6.
- Smith, P. R. (2018). Collecting sufficient evidence when conducting a case study. *ProQuest*, 23(5), 1048–1054. ProQuest. https://www-proquest-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/docview/2049976577?accountid=14872
- Sroka, W., & Szántó, R. (2018). Corporate social responsibility and business ethics in controversial sectors: Analysis of research results. *Journal of Entrepreneurship*, *Management and Innovation*, *14*(3), 111–126. https://doi.org/10.7341/20181435
- Stainton, H. (2016). The "blogosphere" as a platform for interpretative phenomenological analysis: The case of TEFL tourism. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 21(9), 1075–1084. https://doi.org/10.1080/13683500.2016.1271404
- Stalcup, G. H. (2008a). Human capital: Workforce diversity government-wide and at the department of homeland security. Retrieved from U.S. General Accounting Office, Report No. GAI-08-815T website: www.gao. gov
- Stalcup, G. H. (2008b). Human capital: Workforce diversity government-wide and at the small business administration. Retrieved from U.S. General Accounting Office, Report No. GAI-08-725T website: www.gao.gov
- Stewart, R. (2012). A comparison of the barrier's midlevel management African

 American Women faces in negotiating through the labyrinth in education and business to corporate-level positions (Order No. 3535772)

- Stryker, S. (2018). Language barriers to gender equity in senior executive leadership.

 Journal of Management Policy and Practice, 19(1).

 https://doi.org/10.33423/jmpp.v19i1.1273
- Taguchi, N. (2018). Description and explanation of pragmatic development: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods research. *System*, 75, 23–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2018.03.010
- Tavakol, M., & Sandars, J. (2014). Quantitative and qualitative methods in medical education research: AMEE guide no 90: Part II. *Medical Teacher*, *36*(10), 838–848. https://doi.org/10.3109/0142159x.2014.915297
- Teusner, A. (2016). Insider research, validity issues, and the OHS professional: One person's journey. International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 19(1), 85-96. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2015.1019263
- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and Delimitations in the Research Process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155–163. EBSCO Connect. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022.
- Turban, S., Dan Wu, & Letian (LT) Zhang. (2019). Research: When Gender Diversity

 Makes Firms More Productive. *Harvard Business Review Digital Articles*, 2.
- Urbancova, H. (2013). Competitive advantage achievement through innovation and knowledge. *Journal of Competitiveness*, *5*(1), 82–96. https://doi.org/10.7441/joc.2013.01.06

- Vanderbroeck, P. (2010). The traps that keep women from reaching the top and how to avoid them. *Journal of Management Development*, 29(9), 764–770. https://doi.org/10.1108/02621711011072478
- van Knippenberg, D., & Schippers, M. C. (2007). Work group diversity. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58(1), 515–541. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085546
- Vannoy, D. (2001). *Gender mosaics : Social perspectives: Original readings*. Oxford University Press.
- Vasiliou, V., & Adams, S. M. (2018). *More women on boards : An international*perspective (L. E. Devnew, M. Janzen Le Ber, & M. Torchia, Eds.; 1st ed., pp. 62–64). Information Age Publishing, Inc.
- Von Bergen, C. W., Soper, B., & Parnell, J. A. (2005). Workforce diversity and organizational performance. *Equal Opportunities International*, 24(3/4), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1108/02610150510788033
- Wallace, M., & Sheldon, N. (2015). Business research ethics: Participant observer perspectives. Journal of Business Ethics, 128, 267-277.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-014-2102-2
- Waring, A. L. (2003). African American female college presidents: Self conceptions of leadership. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 9(3), 31–44. https://doi.org/10.1177/107179190300900305

- Watts, L. L., Frame, M. C., Moffett, R. G., Van Hein, J. L., & Hein, M. (2014). The relationship between gender, perceived career barriers, and occupational aspirations. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 45(1), 10–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12271
- Weick, K. E. (1995). What theory is not, theorizing is? *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 40(3), 385. https://doi.org/10.2307/2393789
- Weston, C., et al. (2001). Analyzing interview data: The development and evolution of a coding system. Qualitative Sociology, 24(3). 381-400.
- Wilder, J. A., Jones, T. B., & Osborne-Lampkin, L-T. (2013). A profile of black women in the 21st century academy: Still learning from the "outsider-within." *Journal of Research Initiatives*, 1(1, Article 5).
 https://digitalcommons.uncfsu.edu/jri/vol1/iss1/5.
- Williams, B. K. (2011). Adaptive management of natural resources—framework and issues. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 92(5), 1346–1353. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2010.10.041
- Wolcott, H. F. (2002). Writing Up Qualitative Research... Better. *Qualitative Health**Research, 12(1), 91–103. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732302012001007
- Wolfe, B. L., & Dilworth, P. P. (2015). Transitioning normalcy. *Review of Educational Research*, 85(4), 667–697. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654314565667

- Wood, A. E., & Mattson, C. A. (2019). Quantifying the effects of various factors on the utility of design ethnography in the developing world. *Research in Engineering Design*, 30(3), 317–338. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00163-018-00304-2
- Woo, H., Lu, J., Kuo, P., & Choi, N. (2016). A content analysis of articles focusing on single-case research design: ACA journals between 2003 and 2014. *Asia Pacific Journal of Counselling and Psychotherapy*, 7(1-2), 118–132. https://doi.org/10.1080/21507686.2016.1199439
- Worsley, J. D., & Stone, C. F. (2011). Framing the Problem of Barriers to Upward

 Mobility for African Americans in Parks and Recreation. *Journal of Park & Recreation Administration*, 29(2), 69.
- Wu, J., Richard, O. C., Zhang, X., & Macaulay, C. (2019). Top management team surface-level diversity, strategic change, and long-term firm performance: A mediated model investigation. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 26(3), 304–318. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051819848997
- Wyatt, M, & Silverster, J. (2015). Reflections on the labyrinth: Investigating black and minority ethnic leaders' career experiences. *Human Relations*, 68(8), 1243-1269.
- Yew Wong, C., & Karia, N. (2010). Explaining the competitive advantage of logistics service providers: A resource-based view approach. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 128(1), 51–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2009.08.026
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods* (6th ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.

- Zamawe, F. C. (2015). The implication of using NVivo software in qualitative data analysis: Evidence-Based reflections. *Malawi Medical Journal*, *27*(1), 13. https://doi.org/10.4314/mmj.v27i1.4
- Zeller, S. (2003). Diversity sought in senior ranks. Retrieved from AllBusiness.com website: from www. allbusiness.com/government/3598634-l.html

Appendix A Interview Protocol and Questions

Participant Pseudonym:	_Participant Time of Interview:				
Code					
Interview Date: $00.00/2021$ Total Time: $60-90$ minutes Research Question – "What strategies do African American women executives use to increase diversity with other African American women in their ranks to ensure					
				profitability and maintain competitive advantage?"	,
				What you will do.	What you will say – script
1. Introduce yourself and the interview session.	 a. Good morning Ms. XXX, I am Leilani Evans, a doctoral student at Walden University conducting a study on what strategies do African American women executives use to increase diversity with other African American women in their ranks to ensure profitability and maintain competitive advantage. b. Thank you for your time to respond to the invitation in consideration to participating in this study. c. If there are any additional questions or concerns, I am happy to address it before we begin. 				
2 Engage the recording device					

- 3. Introduce the date, time, and participant with coded identification.
- 4. Commence interview with question #1 with follow through to subsequent questions to the end.
- 5. Present additional questions as required.
- 6. End the interview sequence; introduce member-checking with participant(s).
- 7. Thank the participant(s) for contributing their time to this study. Reiterate contact numbers for follow up questions and concerns from the participants.
 - ➤ Watch non-verbal language
 - > Paraphrase as needed
 - Follow-up with probing questions for in-depth content.

Wrap up interview, thanking participants.

- 1. What strategies do you use to increase diversity within your ranks?
- 2. What strategies have been the most successful in increasing diversity within your organization?
- 3. What strategies have failed to increase diversity within your organization?
- 4. What metrics do you use to assess the strategies implemented to increase diversity within your ranks?
- 5. How is the career ladder structured within your organization to ensure diversity?
- 6. How are mentorship programs used within your organization to increase diversity within your ranks?
- 7. What else would you like to share about your experience with increasing diversity to ensure profitability and maintain competitive advantage?

Thank you for volunteering your time to impart your experiences with me on the study. I will transcribe the interview audio and provide you with a copy of the transcript to review for accuracy within the next 3 days.

Schedule member-checking interview and set the environment.

I would like to schedule a followup meeting with you to review the results of my analysis and interpretation of the findings at your convenience for about 30 minutes.

Follow-up Member Checking Interview

What you will do.	W	/hat you will say – script
Introduce a follow-up interview session and set	Go	ood morning Ms. XXX,
the environment	Th	ank you once again for your
	pai	ticipation in this a study.
		is follow-up is in response to
	the	analysis and interpretation
	of	findings from the first
		erview on what strategies do
	Af	rican American women
		ecutive use to increase
		versity with other African
	American women in their ranks	
	to ensure profitability and	
	maintain competitive advantage.	
	Please allow me to record this	
		low-up interview, so I may
		curately note the information
Provide a copy of the succinct synthesis for each	sha	ared.
Question. Introduce probing questions correlating		
other information discovered to the study and IRB	1.	What strategies do you use
approved.		to increase diversity within
		your ranks?
Articulate each question and the interpretation of the		C
findings and ask if anything were missed. Or is there		Succinct synthesis of the
anything you would like to add?		interpretation in one
		paragraph as required.
	2.	What stratagies have been
	۷.	What strategies have been the most successful in
		increasing diversity within your organization?
		your organization:

Succinct synthesis of the interpretation in one paragraph as required.

3. What strategies have failed to increase diversity within your organization?

Succinct synthesis of the interpretation in one paragraph as required

4. What metrics do you use to assess the strategies implemented to increase diversity within the ranks?

Succinct synthesis of the interpretation in one paragraph as required

5. How is the career ladder structured within your organization to ensure diversity?

Succinct synthesis of the interpretation in one paragraph as required

6. How are mentorship programs used within your organization to increase diversity within your ranks?

Succinct synthesis of the interpretation in one paragraph as required

7. What else would you like to share about your experience with increasing diversity to

ensure profitability and maintain competitive advantage?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies do you use to increase diversity within your ranks?
- 2. What strategies have been the most successful in increasing diversity within your organization?
- 3. What strategies have failed to increase diversity within your organization?
- 4. What metrics do you use to assess the strategies implemented to increase diversity within your ranks?
- 5. How is the career ladder structured within your organization to ensure diversity?
- 6. How are mentorship programs used within your organization to increase diversity within your ranks?
- 7. What else would you like to share about your experience with increasing diversity to ensure profitability and maintain competitive advantage?

Appendix B: Ethics Certificate



Has completed the following CITI Program course:

Not valid for renewal of certification through CME.

Student's

(Curriculum Group)

Doctoral Student Researchers

(Course Learner Group) **1 - Basic Course**(Stage)

(Stuge)

Under requirements set by:

Walden University

